Making Healthier Decisions about Disaster Recovery: Opportunities for the use of Health Impact Assessments¹

James K. Mitchell Professor of Geography Rutgers University

May 18, 2016



¹ This report is supported by Rutgers University through a grant from the Health Impact Project, a collaboration of the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and the Pew Charitable Trusts. The views expressed are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Health Impact Project, the Pew Charitable Trusts and the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation.

Contents

- 1.0 Preamble
- 2.0 Information sources and report format
- 3.0 Background
 - 3.1 Health and disasters
 - 3.2 Health Impact Assessment
 - 3.3 Disaster Policy
 - 3.4 Disaster Recovery
 - 3.5 The Disaster Recovery System
 - 3.6 The Federal Framework of Responses to Disasters
 - 3.7 Common decision points
- 4.0 What is already known about disaster-related HIAs?
 - 4.1 Few HIAs completed but more needed
 - 4.2 Linkage with key decision points
 - 4.3 Narrow purview of alternatives
 - 4.4 Relation to Environmental Impact Assessments
- 5.0 Institutional readiness for employing disaster recovery HIAs
 - 5.1 Federal Agency roles in assisting disaster recovery
 - 5.2 State and Other Intermediate Level Institutions
 - 5.3 Recovery Decision Making at the Local Level
 - 5.4 Advocacy: Use of HIAs by grass roots community organizations
 - 5.5 Summary
- 6.0 Expert opinions: Thought leader perspectives
 - 6.1 Department of Health and Human Services Workshop
 - 6.2 Thought Leader Meeting (Washington, DC)
 - 6.3 40th Natural Hazards Workshop
- 7.0 HIA case studies in New Jersey
- 8.0 Recommendations
 - 8.1 Awareness
 - 8.2 Pivots of application
 - 8.3 Appraisal of recovery alternatives
 - 8.4 Guidance for choosing among HIAs
 - 8.5 Grassroots technical support
 - 8.6 Broadening and Integration

Making Healthier Decisions about Disaster Recovery: Opportunities for the use of Health Impact Assessments

1.0 Preamble

Successful recovery from disasters and improvement of human health are two important objectives of national policy in the United States. Expert analysis, popular opinion and common sense suggest they should be mutually reinforcing activities, but discourse and actions have long proceeded more or less separately in both arenas, often in ways counterproductive to the achievement of policy objectives.² The systematic process of Health Impact Assessment (HIA)³ and its products (known individually as Health Impact Assessments or HIAs) show great promise as a way of connecting these themes to mutual advantage. This report offers guidance about how to bring that outcome about.

At the outset to avoid confusion, it is important to point out that the term Health Impact Assessment is subject to different interpretations. Most commonly it refers to the assessment of health outcomes of disasters or the assessment of immediate emergency responses (e.g. medical measures intended to treat injuries or detect potential disease outbreaks. In contrast, **the present report examines prospects for using HIAs as an aid to long-term disaster recovery** and makes recommendations for encouraging widespread use. Herein the focus is on health impacts of decisions about actions such as: redesigning, rebuilding or relocating buildings and infrastructure; restoring and revitalizing damaged ecosystems; reinvesting in economic development; and strengthening the social fabric of affected communities; among others. Opportunities for improving health exist in all of these sectors and beyond; HIAs are one means of ensuring that healthier outcomes are recognized, included in the public agenda and encouraged.

Disasters that are triggered by natural phenomena, especially severe floods and storms, are fertile ground for the use of HIAs. They are important foci not just because of the current scale of their impacts on health, safety and wellbeing, and the major opportunities for changing built and human environments they present, but also because of the prospects of worse to come, if current climate projections and vulnerability trends are sustained.

² Ensuring better human health is rarely a goal of natural hazard management plans and the health dimensions of natural hazards are almost never included within the purview of community health improvement plans. For example, in New Jersey health receives barely a mention in the State's current Hazard Mitigation Plan (New Jersey Office of Emergency Management 2014) while county community health improvement plans are heavily focused on reducing rates of obesity, cancer, cardiovascular disease and substance abuse. (New Jersey Department of Health and Senior Services 2010)

³ Housing Impact Analysis also carries the HIA acronym. (Daquisto and Rodda 2006)

HIAs can be viewed as value-neutral decision-support tools or as advocacy instruments. The former view dominates among health and hazard professionals whereas the latter interpretation is more frequently encountered among community organizers, interest group activists and others with a stake in local empowerment. (Pursell and Kearns 2013) These orientations mirror long-standing differences, among scholars and practitioners, about the value of technocratic versus democratic approaches to public participation in decision-making. Herein it is argued that both perspectives are valid and provide valuable insights into ways of making better use of HIAs in support of disaster recovery.

2.0 Information sources and report format

Although this report is a stand-alone document, for those not familiar with existing literature on HIAs and disasters, it may be advantageous to read the Appendix before progressing further.

The present report draws on four different sources of evidence. These include: (a) a review of published literature on natural disaster-related Health Impact Assessments; (b) a status report on the present and projected use of HIAs in public institutions with health improvement and/or disaster reduction responsibilities; (c) a survey of expert opinions among a selection of thought leaders in the fields of Health, Disaster Management and Health Impact Assessment; and (d) a summary of experience with two disaster recovery-related HIA cases in New Jersey. Both the literature review (a) and the New Jersey case studies (d) are only briefly summarized herein because each is the subject of more detailed reports elsewhere.

Subsequent sections of the report are organized as follows. Section 3.0 supplies background information about health impact assessment and disaster recovery. The present U.S. Disaster Recovery Framework is outlined and the range of recovery-related decisions, for which HIAs might be appropriate support instruments, are identified. Section 4.0 provides an updated summary of a Spring 2015 report on the use of HIAs in relation to U.S. natural hazards and disasters. (Appendix) Section 5.0 includes information about the HIA readiness of federal agencies and other organizations with disaster recovery responsibilities. Section 6.0 discusses the views of expert "thought leaders" on the use of HIAs as aids to disaster recovery decision making. Section 7.0 highlights the experience of two case study HIAs carried out within the larger project of which this report is a part. Section 8.0 provides a list of recommendations for action.

Throughout the document the focus is on natural disasters (especially flood and storm disasters) in United States but some of the findings and conclusions are also relevant to other countries.

3.0 Background

Health improvement and disaster recovery are separate bodies of knowledge and action that have not previously been much in contact. It is helpful to understand how each has evolved as a prelude to assessing prospects for mutual engagement

3.1 Health and Disasters

Health is a concept that stretches well beyond the absence of disease in humans to encompass physical and mental wellbeing, as well as the social, economic and environmental factors that influence wellbeing.⁴ Although the notion of health is primarily associated with humans it can also be applied to economic and environmental systems. (U.S. Department of Agriculture 2016) Economic health and ecological health are of comparable importance to human health in the fashioning of sustainable lifestyles and communities. (Douglas 2008)

The relationship between human health and natural disasters is complex. (Few 2007) Storms, floods and the like have long been recognized as significant agents of death and injury, especially in developing countries, but in the U.S. associated mortality rates have been relatively low and evidence about long-term health impacts among survivors has been scarce.

In the wake of recent devastating hurricanes like Katrina, Irene and Sandy negative physical and mental health outcomes are increasingly recognized (Adams et al 2011; Calvo et al 2014; Lindell 2013; Wells et al 2013; Walsh et al 2015; Abramson et al 2015). Continuing problems of certain vulnerable groups are particularly noteworthy in part because they are often more exposed to physical risks but also because they already suffer from health deficits that are exacerbated by - and persist well after - emergencies. (Baker and Cormier 2015; Tate et al 2016) For example, poverty, old age, minority ethnicity, immigrant status and other indicators of deprivation are known to be associated with disaster vulnerability as well as poor health. (Collins et al 2013) Furthermore, it is clear that most disaster-affected communities are inadequately prepared to address a wide range of long-term health recovery problems. It is also clear that careful management of disaster recovery can significantly improve the long-term health of human populations (Institute of Medicine 2015), although opportunities to do so are often frustrated by cost-benefit analyses of recovery measures that ignore human health. (Tate et al 2016; Brown and Frahm 2016) Fig. 3.1 includes some of the main short-term and long-term problems that have been recognized by health specialists. It is an incomplete list that probably understates health effects both because secondary stressors persist long after floods and storms end and also because the extreme events exacerbate existing health problems.

⁴ Here the definition of human health combines safety (i.e. protected against harm) and wellbeing (i.e. physical health and mental health) < http://www.cdc.gov/hrqol/wellbeing.htm>

Fig. 3.1

Human health effects of storm and flood disasters

IMMEDIATE Injuries Allergies Disease outbreaks Diarrheal diseases Respiratory conditions Hypothermia Poisoning

CLEANUP Accidents Dehydration Heat exhaustion Allergic reactions Asthma exacerbation DELAYED (long-term) Mental health problems* Stress-related disorders* Nutritional diseases

* Typical problems (recognized to varying degrees by health specialists) include: PTSD, substance abuse, anxiety, depression, suicide ideation and isolation/anomie. After: Few 2007, Stanke et al 2012 and Collins, Jimenez and Grineski 2013

The shaping of places to ensure good human health is an established practice. (Learmonth and Curtis 2013) Just as - in the late 19th century - improved urban sanitation helped to reduce death rates in Europe and the United States, the layout and provisioning of rebuilt neighborhoods that had been devastated by disasters, and the social rearrangements for living, can be accomplished in ways that not only make the community more resilient to future storms and floods but also reduce health problems like childhood obesity and diabetes or combat isolation and other health stressors. These problems are often endemic among underprivileged populations exposed to environmental extremes and deprived of physical exercise, decent food, unpolluted air, public support networks and access to adequate health care. Nor are the benefits confined to disadvantaged populations; more privileged groups also seek out safe and salubrious environments. (Douglas 2008)

Despite the benefits to be obtained by linking recovery and health improvement, arrangements for making health-conscious redevelopment a prominent element of decision-making during recovery are generally lacking. Health Impact Assessment promises to help fill this gap by taking account of both negative health outcomes of disasters and health improvements that may be facilitated by well-designed recovery measures.

3.2 Health Impact Assessment

Health Impact Assessment (HIA) is a methodological innovation that is intended to provide public and private decision-makers with guidance about the health outcomes of prospective human actions and to encourage the adoption of alternatives that foster healthier populations and environments. It is a process of community engagement, usually voluntary, that involves expert and lay stakeholders in a collaborative exchange of their knowledge, concerns and expectations and their aspirations for improved health. These objectives are sought via a systematic procedure that begins with the selection and bounding of specific decisions and concludes with evaluations of recommendations for achieving improved health objectives after the decisions are taken. Its six steps include: (1) screening, (2) scoping, (3) assessment, (4) recommendations, (5) reporting, and (6) monitoring and evaluation.

During the past 30 years HIAs have been widely used internationally, in Europe and less developed countries, as well as more recently in the USA. The basic process has become sufficiently standardized that it is now codified in handbooks and training programs published by a number of professional organizations. (Bhatia 2011; Bhatia et al. 2014; American Planning Association 2015a, 2015b; World Health Organization 2016) A small number of HIAs have been employed in the wake of natural disasters but they focus almost entirely on the assessment of losses and other immediate consequences. With the exception of a very few quasi-experimental examples *HIAs have not been employed to assess measures that are intended to assist long term recovery and the prevention, avoidance or reduction of future losses*. This kind of HIA will require simultaneous attention to health improvement, disaster mitigation and public engagement; a three part task that is ambitious but eminently worthwhile.

3.3 Disaster policy

In the 21st century three highly disruptive events have had a disproportionate effect on shaping national policy for disasters in the United States. These include: (a) the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001; (b) Hurricane Katrina, especially its effects on New Orleans, Louisiana (2005); and (c) Hurricane Sandy in the greater New York metropolitan region (2012). The terrorist attacks prompted a shift of attention from mitigating natural disasters to preparing for and managing ongoing human-forced emergencies. They also led to strengthened roles for "first responders" and emphasized the importance of "command, control and communication" as necessary features of successful "incident management". In some respects this was a return to the kind of civil defense preparedness that had marked public policy on disasters during the years following World War II. (Mitchell 2003) Hurricane Katrina refocused attention on natural environment risks, highly exposed places, the plight of vulnerable populations (especially poor ethnic minorities), degraded ecosystems, fragile local economies and imperfect management responses. (Mitchell 2006) The policy effects of Hurricane Sandy are still being worked through but the storm has underlined a mismatch between existing policies for disaster recovery and the needs of local communities, as well as the growing importance of previously ignored climate change risks, the potential for "green engineering" as a complement to bricks and mortar reconstruction, and the need to incorporate goals of resilience and sustainability into preparations for the future. Following Sandy a number of innovative programs were introduced that are still ongoing and whose consequences are also likely to be significant (e.g. Rebuild by Design; National Disaster Resilience Competition). Health Impact Assessment arrives at a time when the door for new departures in public policy is open and prospects for new departures are ripe.

Responses to natural hazards and disasters are strongly affected by factors of time and geographical scale. Public programs are mobilized in a temporal sequence that reflects different stages of the so-called disaster cycle⁵. Geographical scale is important because any one locality in the USA experiences relatively few disasters throughout its existence but the nation, as a whole, experiences disasters of varying kinds more or less continuously. Thus, the U.S. disaster management system possesses a high degree of hierarchical, decentralized organization. Different organizations at different administrative levels are allocated different responsibilities. Mechanisms for collaboration and coordination of hazards management activities are of crucial significance.

The federal government is mainly responsible for: setting national policy; funding a large share of the major disaster management programs; providing expert scientific and technical information; training specialized emergency management personnel; and coordinating the efforts of other governmental units and aid organizations during disasters.

All U.S. states have passed laws that make their policies on disasters compatible with (but not necessarily the same as) federal policies. State governments oversee the execution of state policies and those aspects of federal policies that have been delegated to them, including, among others: preparation of requests for federal assistance; mobilization of National Guard units for emergency duty; creation and staffing of state emergency operations centers; formulation of state plans for emergency management and hazard mitigation; and oversight of local emergency agencies. They also play important roles in regulating public utilities and other "lifeline" infrastructures and they share with local governments responsibilities for the conduct of evacuations.

Local (i.e. city and county) governments have direct authority over so-called "first responders" in the emergency services (e.g. police, fire, medicine) and over the regulation of construction and land uses within their boundaries. Some are now also appointing officials to manage their flood plain lands. Whereas most federal and many state disaster personnel are trained professionals, local emergency and flood plain managers are more likely to be part-time appointees who perform other government functions during non-emergency periods.

It is important to realize that there are exceptions to the preceding pattern of policy and management responsibilities. For example, the scale and sophistication of emergency management systems in large wealthy cities (e.g. Los Angeles; New York) often rivals (and occasionally exceeds) that of the state and national systems. Also, the federal government controls the use of large parts of the western United States that are publicly-owned national property and it has significant powers over the regulation of certain kinds of private lands (e.g. floodplains) everywhere in the United States. In addition, some states (e.g. North Carolina, Hawaii, California) have extensive powers over general land regulation that put them in a strong position to affect the use of hazardous areas.

⁵ The cycle includes several major stages: Mitigation, Preparedness, Response and Recovery. For theoretical background see Alexander 2002. A survey of its recent application to recovery planning in specific communities is provided by Watson et a. 2014.

There also exist an increasing number of intergovernmental organizations and organizations composed of governmental and non-governmental groups. These usually address matters that cut across jurisdictional boundaries or require mediation among competing interests.

3.4 Disaster Recovery

In the past disaster, recovery has been defined as the process by which a community seeks to return to its pre-disaster state, including the repair and/or replacement of damaged buildings and infrastructure as well as the restoration of everyday livelihood activities and customary patterns of living⁶. (Sundnes and Birnbaum 2003, p. 54) Today, a broader and more inclusive definition is becoming accepted that recognizes the impossibility of reproducing the *status quo ante* and instead embraces the aspiration to "build back better" in pursuit of a "new normal" that is also adapted to cope with *future* risks⁷. Mitigation is thus an important component of recovery plans that look to being better prepared to prevent, avoid or, reduce the effects of future disasters. Moreover, activities of preparedness, recovery and mitigation, that were once regarded as separate but sequentially overlapping, are increasingly recognized as closely intertwined, often occurring simultaneously - or sometimes not at all.

Recovery is the stage of disaster about which researchers know least and shortcomings of the recovery process are one of the most criticized aspects of disaster policy. (International Journal of Mass Emergencies and Disasters 2012) **"Holistic recovery" has emerged as an attractive integrating concept that connects disaster management with larger themes of sustainability, resilience and equity that have become prominent in a range of national and international policy arenas during the last two decades. At the center of this concept is the added value to be obtained by integrating formerly separate streams of physical recovery, environmental recovery and economic recovery. Holistic recovery programs are already ongoing in some cities and countries (e.g. New Zealand) and the notion is spreading. (Corbin 2015) "Health" is a concept that applies to and transcends all three of the holistic recovery arenas (built, natural, socioeconomic).** Not only is improved health important as a goal in its own right, it also offers a principle around which separate initiatives in different strands of the recovery process may be organized and focused for maximum mutual benefit. HIAs go a long way toward translating that principle into a usable tool for achieving favorable outcomes.

It has become accepted wisdom among disaster experts that by far the best way to reduce losses is to anticipate and take actions for preventing, avoiding or mitigating them, rather than reacting after the event. Accordingly, **such post-disaster recovery strategies as may be necessary should be crafted, tested and ready to activate well before a**

⁶ Business interest groups employ a more restrictive use of the term "disaster recovery" that refers to rapid restoration of the electronic information and information exchange networks that are increasingly necessary for commercial operations. See, Disaster Recovery Journal < <u>http://www.drj.com</u>>

⁷ Sometimes described as the achievement of "transformative resilience". (Gotham and Campanella 2010)

disaster threatens, not put together in times of emergency. Unfortunately, this rarely occurs. **Heavy reliance on reactive post-disaster recovery measures is still the norm**.

The aftermath of disaster is a congested - and often contested - period for public decision-making. Among complicating factors in local communities are: (1) the large number of decisions that must be taken by governments, private institutions and affected publics; (2) strong pressures for a return to "normal" - often under tight time constraints; (3) reduced decision-making capacity, brought about by absences or displacement of key personnel, damaged public buildings, and uncertainties about authority and resources; (4) a complex and rapidly changing information environment, including speculation and rumors as well as upper level policy changes that may introduce previously untried procedures and institutions; and (5) shortages of some resources (e.g. housing) with a (temporary, though often delayed) surfeit of others (e.g. external funds on such a scale that the situation is described as "drinking from a fire hose"). In small municipalities, such as those that typify the U.S. coast, the likelihood of finding ones with the capacity for these tasks is limited, so intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations have sometimes stepped into the gap to supply necessary expertise and resources. (Kutner, 2015, p.3) By extension it is argued that post-disaster HIAs fall into the category of activities that may be beyond the capacity of local governments; arrangements for external assistance and collaboration across jurisdictional lines are warranted.

3.5 The disaster recovery system

The U.S. disaster recovery system has historically been fragmented among many public and private institutions. Even today, after major efforts to provide a comprehensive overarching administrative structure, it remains a highly decentralized patchwork of laws, programs and institutions of varying specificity and at all levels of government, with strong roles for Non-Governmental Organizations and private sector bodies, often acting through the medium of public-private partnerships. There are at least 26 federally administered recovery funding programs, as well as a host of state government partners, plus money, expertise, personnel and other forms of help offered by a dizzving array of research and development groups, professional associations, philanthropic foundations, corporations, community organizations, volunteers and ad hoc bodies that spring up to in response to specific disasters. (Philipps 2009; Institute of Medicine 2015, pp.137-142.) While federal government grants are particularly important recovery enablers, insurance firms are also major actors in the financing of recovery and reconstruction activities and there is an increasing role for private marketplace investors. (Iowa Department of Homeland Security and Emergency Management 2013; Filitova 2014; Andress, McGrath, West and Wilson 2015a;b)

3.6 The Federal Framework of Responses to Disasters

After the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001, there was a major reorganization of the federal government's disaster-related responsibilities and activities within a common system known as the National Planning Frameworks. (U.S. Department of Homeland Security 2014) This system includes five separate sub-frameworks: Prevention; Protection; Mitigation; Response; and Disaster Recovery, of which the last is the one with which this report is most concerned. (Federal Emergency Management Agency 2015)

Human health effects have long been neglected in the U.S. disaster recovery system as they have been in the stages of preparedness, response and mitigation. This is beginning to change, thereby increasing prospects for wider adoption of HIAs as decisionsupport instruments. For example, the Recovery Support Function of the National Disaster Recovery Framework is intended to assist "…locally-led recovery efforts in the restoration of the public health, health care and social service networks to promote the resilience, health and wellbeing of affected individuals and communities." (Federal Emergency Management Agency 2008) (Fig. 3.2) While most of the emphasis remains on addressing *immediate* health effects of disasters, part of this Recovery Support Function's remit is to "protect the health of the populations and response and recovery workers from the *longerterm effects* of a post-disaster environment" (emphasis added). In other words there is promise of greater government attention to seeking ways of improving public health while at the same time planning for and mitigating downstream problems of disaster.



Fig. 3.2: Health within the Context of the National Disaster Recovery Framework

Officials and others with formal responsibilities for health and wellbeing are not prominent among the large number of decision-makers who share responsibilities for the planning and execution of disaster recovery projects. A recent study of six examples of recovery identified 19 different groups of actors involved in recovery and another 16 in mitigation. (Fig. 3.3) No health groups appeared among the mitigation actors though EMTs, mental health and human services personnel were included among recovery actors. This is a telling omission because mitigation offers some of the best opportunities for improving human health and wellbeing by reducing the likelihood of future disasters through holistic recovery strategies that seek to create a mutually reinforcing health trifecta that includes healthy economies and healthy ecosystems as well as healthy human populations.

Recoverv

Fig. 3.3: Key Actors in Recent Disaster Recovery and Mitigation Events

Mugation	Recovery
Elected Officials County	Federal Agencies* (with various functions) Community planning
Municipal	Capacity Building
Planners	Economic recovery
City planners	Housing Recovery
Transportation planners	
Disaster planners	
Managers	Local and state agencies
City managers	Fire
Emergency managers	Police
GIS managers	Social workers
Public works professionals	s EMTs
Parks and Recreation offic	ials Mental health agencies Code enforcement officers
Private	Finance/treasury/tax collection
Homeowners	r mance/ treasury/ tax conection
Construction companies	
Business leaders	
Non-governmental	
Civic Groups	
Environmental Profession	als
	alo
er Watson 2014)	
	1

(After * Individual departments are not identified

Mitigation

13

3.7 Common Decision Points

Ideally HIAs would best be carried out in a crisis free setting, well before a disaster occurs. Many of the decisions that *anticipate* risks and hazards, and prescribe management actions, have strong health implications and would be suitable candidate for HIAs. Among them are plans and policies for: climate adaptation; warning and evacuation; emergency management; disaster communications; land use; hazard mitigation; historic preservation; open space; and risk and vulnerability assessments. In addition, any large-scale infrastructure plans (e.g. transportation, utilities, data networks) are likely to have implications for the future health and hazard-susceptibility of communities where they are located.

Depending on the severity of the disaster and the scale of recovery efforts, major long-term *recovery decisions* may be taken within a year or so of the initial disaster event, though research findings suggest that there is considerable variation in their timing and duration. Typically, there are decisions on a wide variety of recovery proposals affecting: policies, regulations, standards, siting, and plans, as well as specific design/create/operate type projects and programs. The bulk of these focus on certain topics that are characteristic of the long-term reconstruction phase of disasters. As identified by Lindell (2013) they include: hazard source control and area protection; economic development; infrastructure resilience; land use controls; historic preservation; building construction practices; environmental recovery; public and mental health initiatives; and disaster memorialization. Fig. (3.4) illustrates a range of common recovery measures for (coastal) storms and floods, the most frequent and expensive type of natural disaster to affect the United States.

The creation of formal *recovery plans* can be rapid with the amount of time required varying in rough proportion to the size of the subject community. Pre-disaster long-term recovery plans tend to identify responsibilities and emphasize procedures; they can take years to create. Fairfax, Virginia's required 2 years and New York State's 2006 plan, between 3 and 6 years. Recovery plans put together in the wake of a disaster take less time and emphasize specific recovery actions. The federal recovery plan for Hurricane Sandy was released within 9 months after the storm. (Hurricane Sandy Rebuilding Task Force 2013) Four recent ones, adopted by small-to-medium sized cities that experienced less severe events, took between twelve weeks and six months. (Watson 2014) In other words, **for a post-disaster HIA to have an effect on major recovery planning decisions it might have to be completed within three to nine months but if it is conducted pre-disaster the time available for completion would likely be substantially longer.**

Fig. 3.4: Policies, plans and programs with long-term implications for hazards and health

Redevelopment strategies (e.g. fortify, accommodate, retreat etc.) Building elevation and flood-proofing requirements Acquisition, demolition, relocation of structures and sites (including buyouts) Flood insurance regulations Low income and special needs housing Climate adaptation Emergency warnings, evacuation, sheltering Disaster communications Hazard mitigation Historic preservation Open space acquisition, designation and use Risk and vulnerability assessments Energy efficiency

Master Plans Rezoning Setback lines Building codes

Retrofitting Dune management Storm water management

Infrastructure - replacement, rebuilding and protection:

Transportation: bridges, roads, causeways, subway stations, rail yards, bus depots, airports

Public utilities: water lines, pump stations, sewer lines, WWTPs, power substations, power lines, communication lines

Hazard protection works: shore protection structures, beach replenishment, green/grey/soft infrastructure

Standards

Reconstruction of damaged structures and infrastructure Worker safety Information disclosure

Demonstration projects (e.g. RBD, Resilience competition)

The menu of possible recovery decisions that could be foci of HIAs is too long to address here, BUT **certain alternatives that have proven to be pivotal in the past are worthy of close attention**. These include: flood insurance maps, rates and elevation requirements; land acquisition and relocation projects; Community Development Block Grants (CDBGs); model coastal ecosystem resilience projects; hazard protection structures; hazard mitigation plans; and decisions that require formal Environmental Assessments. In addition, climate adaptation plans and other sustainability and resilience initiatives have great potential importance. Various hybrids that combine elements of several of these (e.g. the Rebuild by Design projects after Hurricane Sandy) are also possible.

In summary, disasters often shake up the public decision-making system as well as the lives of affected populations. Post-disaster Health Impact Assessments need to take this into account because it imparts higher levels of uncertainty to the HIA process. HIAs are likely to have maximum value when streamlined, simplified and coordinated with different stages of recovery decision-making (that are themselves in flux). In a predominantly topdown federal system that is designed to funnel external aid to local communities, HIAs remind formal decision-makers that health is a bottom-line concern of humans and they can act as counterweights that foreground the knowledge, preferences and expectations of local disaster-affected populations about past experiences and future desires for acceptable outcomes.

4.0 What is already known about use of disaster-related HIAs?

A lengthy review of the status of disaster-related HIAs that were carried out in the United States is provided in the Appendix to this report. The following is a brief updated summary of the main points.

4.1 Few HIAs completed but more needed

Only a few (c.5%) of the 350 or so completed or ongoing HIAs have engaged with the topic of natural disasters and/or disaster recovery and those mostly as a secondary aspect of the main inquiry. Disaster implications of development projects have been marginalized or not included in many of the HIAs undertaken to date, even though they may be significant. Where hazards or disasters are included they tend to be chronic, having usually affected vulnerable populations over long periods without rising to the level of officially declared disasters. The natural hazards that are addressed cover a wide spectrum from hurricanes, heat waves, wildfires and droughts to slope failures and earthquakes, with floods and storms predominating. The societal sectors that receive most attention include housing, (water and energy) infrastructures, and forestry.

While disasters provide opportunities to get HIAs on the agenda of recovery organizations, it is widely recognized that much more attention needs to be paid to this topic. Authors of climate adaptation, energy and transportation infrastructure plans have been particularly vocal about the need for HIAs that address environmental risks, hazards and disasters. (e.g. City of New Orleans 2015; Delaware Cabinet Committee on Climate and Resilience 2014; Washington State Department of Transportation 2014)

4.2 Linkage with key decision points

HIAs have been most effective as tools to achieve disaster reduction when linked directly with an organization's regulatory or funding decisions. One illustrative example is EPA's use of an HIA to support its permitting process for the small chronically flood prone Proctor's Creek watershed in the Greater Atlanta region. When screening potential candidate HIAs guidance about those that most closely connect with key recovery decision points would be a useful aid.

4.3 Narrow purview of alternatives

HIAs have a reputation for transparency, independence and fairness that may be compromised when they fail to fully assess alternatives to proposed decisions. This can occur when some alternatives have either not been considered by the decision making body or rejected because they fall outside its jurisdiction. Communities engaged in major disaster recovery efforts confront this situation with some regularity because external funding agencies (e.g. US Army Corps of Engineers, HUD) have restricted terms of reference that often direct choices down well-traveled paths towards familiar solutions. The same may be true of local government decision-making. As the former mayor of San Francisco once said about ill-advised rebuilding proposals after the 1989 Loma Prieta earthquake "Don't let the bureaucrats insist that your situation fit their rules. Make the rules fit your situation." (Farmer 2013) **Given the variety of local contexts in which disasters and the wide range of responses with which they may be matched, assessment of alternatives should be a major element in disaster recovery-related HIAs.**

4.4 Relation to Environmental Impact Assessments

Many observers have noted similarities of purpose between HIAs and Environmental Impact Assessments and explored possibilities for merging these two assessment instruments. (Cole et al 2004; Bhatia and Wernham 2008; Harris and Haigh 2015; Reis et al 2015) Whatever the advantages of a unified approach in non-disaster settings (Washington State Department of Transportation 2014), **the history of environmental impact assessment suggests that the resulting hybrid would not likely be suitable for the time-constrained setting of disaster recovery. As discussed below (Sections 7.0 and 8.0) it may be more effective to modify the existing HIA process for use in postdisaster contexts.**

5.0 Institutional readiness for employing disaster recovery HIAs

Attendance at workshops, consultation with experts and analysis of documents provided windows into the mid-2015 status of efforts by federal agencies to make use of HIAs in carrying out their missions, especially in the context of disaster recovery planning and management. Prospects for increased use of HIAs by similar state and local decision making bodies were not systematically analyzed though comments, based on available information, are also included below.

5.1 Federal Agency roles and activities

As the lead agency for the Health and Social Service Recovery Support function, the **U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS)** has made major strides to raise the visibility of disaster recovery as a necessary focus of agency operations, not least by convening a 2015 Recovery Workshop to work out the organizational strategy for coming to grips with this task. As part of the President's Climate Action Plan the department will launch a plan to create sustainable and resilient hospitals. (U. S. Department of Health and Human Services 2013a; Fink 2016) In a separate but intersecting initiative DHHS's **Centers for Disaster Control and Prevention**'s (CDC) Health Community Design Initiative has been exploring the use of HIAs to articulate the health concerns of vulnerable populations; CDC has also signed cooperative agreements with state and city health agencies that are designed to improve communication, education and vulnerability mapping in support of HIAs that take account of prospective climate change risks. (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 2013b) These are positive beginnings; **development and use of HIAs that take account of long term health improvement and disaster recovery needs, jointly in a single procedure, would be a valuable next step.**

Other federal agencies that have health-related responsibilities during disasters have also shown interest in HIAs. The **Environmental Protection Agency (EPA)** has undertaken a systematic review of HIA practice in the United States and is exploring its further use. Although most of EPA's attention is on human-made hazards (e.g. pollutants), natural disasters have received peripheral attention especially storm-water runoff that brings contaminated debris into contact with vulnerable populations. (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 2013) Pollutants can pose long-lasting hazards to human health and EPA's focus is primarily on reducing continuing risks (e.g. frequent waterlogging and other small scale flooding) rather than recovering from acute disasters like major floods. EPA also publishes an EnviroAtlas (U. S. Environmental Protection Agency 2015) that supports HIAs by mapping data about the contributions of different ecosystems to health risk reduction. **The underlying thesis of this atlas (i.e. natural and managed environments perform valuable health services for humans) might provide a model for bringing disaster recovery measures that also affect human health within the purview of the HIA process. (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 2015)**

The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), coordinates a number of health-related disaster services including crisis counseling, training courses for hospital personnel, and guidance on other public health activities, but these tend to focus on immediate emergency needs. (e.g. Federal Emergency Agency 2008; 2011b) FEMA also administers the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP), which is arguably the most important *regulatory mechanism* available to federal authorities with which they can play a direct role influencing future patterns of housing and health in flood risk communities. The great majority of Presidential Disaster Declarations are issued for floods and the salience of floods is only likely to grow under predictions of higher sea levels and greater storminess associated with climate change. Under the NFIP, properties in designated flood risk zones are required to be elevated above expected flood levels in order to qualify for flood insurance. Owners of heavily or repeatedly damaged properties may qualify for buyouts that permit them to relocate homes and other buildings outside the flood zones. Property owners in municipalities that enact flood reduction measures may also qualify for reduced insurance rates through the Community Rating Program. However, home elevation requirements can be difficult to implement (especially among elderly and low income groups), buyouts have not historically been generously funded, and municipalities typically engage in only a few types of flood reduction measures from among the range that is available.

In view of FEMA's broad coordinating authority for the delivery of disaster services, especially through the work of Federal Disaster Recovery Coordinators, Tribal Disaster Recovery Coordinators and Local Disaster Recovery Managers (Federal Emergency Management Agency 2015), a higher profile for HIAs as an integral part of FEMA's recommended tool sets would be a welcome development.

In the past the **Department of Housing and Urban Development** (HUD)'s role in disaster recovery was significant, especially with respect to providing new, repaired or replacement housing for low-income victims and other disadvantaged populations. HUD's responsibilities expanded significantly in the wake of Hurricane Sandy (2012) and it is now arguably the single most important *disaster recovery agency*. For example, the Sandy Rebuilding Task Force was established under HUD leadership and made a large number of recommendations for improving the recovery system in innovative ways. (Hurricane Sandy Rebuilding Task Force 2013) It also created a Rebuild by Design competition "...to promote innovation by developing regionally-scalable but locally-contextual solutions that increase resilience in the region." (Martin 2015) Rebuild by Design projects attracted entries from a swathe of international partnerships among architects, landscape ecologists, planners and other experts. Taken as a whole RBD projects demonstrate the importance of injecting sustainable measures to reduce future losses into policies that previously may have assisted recovery but also tended to reproduce existing vulnerabilities. Many of these projects are financed with money from HUD's Community Development Block Grant Disaster Recovery Program, one of the largest public funding sources for recovery projects. (U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 2016a). Drawing on the experience of Rebuild by Design HUD now also administers the National Disaster Resilience Competition. (U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 2016b) It makes grants to communities that adopt innovations that will enable them to resist and recover from disasters, rapidly

and with a minimum of external assistance. Finally, HUD is a proponent of Climate Change Adaptation planning (U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 2014), one of whose key features is seeking to harness recovery activities in pursuit of sustainable coping measures. It is notable that most of the HUD initiatives focus on low-income communities that also tend to be more at risk to disaster and to suffer from greater health inequities than other places. **Although HUD has not explicitly embraced Health Impact Assessment, it is developing a Healthy Communities Index and a Health Communities Assessment tool that provide foundations on which HIAs could build.** (Institute of Medicine 2015)

Many of the other federal agencies that play roles in the nation's disaster management and response system include few responsibilities for the improvement of human health and/or few responsibilities for disaster recovery actions. Among others, these include the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, the U.S. Geological Survey, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, the Federal Highway Administration and the Department of Agriculture.⁸ This does not mean that HIAs might not be employed systematically by such agencies as part of the project approval and review processes or in other capacities. For example, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers regulates wetland dredge and fill activities and has authority over the disposal of disaster debris as well as operating the national dam safety program. Rebuilding, repair or removal of dams damaged by disasters, alteration of wetlands through dredging of navigation channels filled with sediments eroded from beaches by storms, and disposal of building debris created by windstorms or storm surges all have potential long-term health implications. (See section on HIAs and NEPA below, National Research Council 2011, p. 155).

Climate change is a front rank issue for a variety of federal, state and local government entities and its health impacts have been one of the leading concerns driving recent efforts to change public policy. They include rising temperatures and changing precipitation regimes as well as worsening storms, floods, and droughts and shifts in disease patterns likely to be associated with these trends. A variety of inter-agency committees, task forces and action plans led by the White House has highlighted not just the need for better mental health services to deal with problems of stress, anxiety and depression among others, but also for wise rebuilding after disasters, the creation of sustainable and resilient hospitals and the provision of tools for encouraging climate resilient investments – all actions with broad health implications. Some of the federal agencies (e.g. EPA) have begun to incorporate climate adaptations into post-disaster redevelopment plans. (White House 2014; Leggett 2015; Environmental and Energy Study Institute 2015) While HIAs do not explicitly feature in any of the federal initiatives, new niches for the use of HIAs are rapidly being created as offshoots of climate adaptation planning. Some state health officials (e.g. in Minnesota) advocate conducting HIAs as part of the broad process of environmental review mandated by the state's Environmental Policy Act. (Patton, Muellman and Ross 2012) To the extent that climate change planning is incorporated into the disaster recovery work of FEMA, HUD, EPA and DHSS there will be further useful opportunities for employing HIAs.

⁸ A more complete list of federal agencies with some involvement in disaster recovery can be found in Phillips 2009, (p. 71).

5.2 State and Other Intermediate Level Institutions

Below the federal level there exist various state agencies and programs for: channeling federal government recovery aid to localities; regulating land uses in hazardous areas; supplying and coordinating emergency services; developing model plans, standards and regulations; managing public lands and protected ecosystems; and other matters. In addition, as pointed out by Smith and Sandler (2012), states (and localities) often create new disaster recovery organizations to supplement existing ones: "...Post-disaster recovery organizations can take several forms, including a commission or task force, a legislatively authorized state office of disaster recovery, or the designation of an existing state agency as the lead recovery office." (p. 19) Local Resilience Partnerships, as proposed by the Sandy Rebuilding Task Force (2013) but not formally created, are another example. Typically, most of these are inter-governmental structures that include representation of relevant public agencies from different communities in the disaster affected area but they can also provide venues for grass roots organizations that spring up in the wake of disaster. As such they occupy a middle ground between the executive agencies that use HIAs to assist formal decision-making and special interest groups (e.g. lobbies, activists etc.) that may view them as useful levers for advancing broader agendas.

Alaska is one state that has made significant progress toward institutionalizing the use of HIAs in public decision-making. The effects of anticipated climate change on permafrost melting, subsidence, erosion and flooding have been assessed in many places, especially native American communities in the Arctic. A suite of HIAs that focus on the health impacts of these hazards has already been completed but none of these addresses the health impacts of prospective relocation or rebuilding measures that might be taken in response. (Brubaker et al 2010; 2014 a, 2014b, 2014c) However, **President Obama's recently announced set of energy efficiency investments that are intended to help reduce climate hazards is a potential candidate for the latter kind of HIA.** (The White House 2015)

Other states (Massachusetts, Washington, Maryland, California) are making progress toward incorporating HIAs into various aspects of public policy-making but again, natural hazards and disasters are conspicuous by their absence in these efforts. (Health Impact Project 2015)

5.3 Recovery Decision Making at the Local Level

"All disasters are local" is a familiar catchphrase in the hazards research and management community. (Becker 2009; Bundy and Jensen 2015) This is usually interpreted to mean that disaster impacts fall disproportionately on particular places and particular groups thereby placing heavy responsibilities for responding on local communities. In the National Disaster Recovery Framework an impressive list of broadly defined tasks falls on the shoulders of local leaders. (Federal Emergency Management Agency 2011a) Among others these include: creating the organizations that will drive local recovery; organizing the recovery process; developing a recovery plan that is publically supported, feasible and appropriately funded; ensuring that it is socially inclusive; requiring that it includes mitigation, sustainability, resilience, and accessibility measures; and collaborating with all the other public and private stakeholders. Unfortunately, there is no part of the disaster management system that is less understood, staffed, developed or funded than local disaster recovery. Much is expected of local institutions during the recovery period but their capacity to deliver is usually quite limited.

HIA would be a valuable addition to the tools available to municipalities and other local government units. (Carnegie et al 2015) More than half (54%) of all HIAs conducted in the United States have informed decision-making at the local level. (Lenhart 2015) They provide a tool that is of use to governments struggling to decide whether to adopt a specific recovery measure and they involve ordinary citizens in decisions about the recovery process. They are also compatible with some of the new community planning and development guidance tools that are appearing in local municipalities. For example, Indian River County, Florida has prepared a detailed post-disaster redevelopment plan that functions as a "standing" document ready to be acted upon in the event of an emergency. (Indian River County 2013) Charrettes, focus groups, community preferences surveys and other "visioning" tools are already in use to construct this and similar plans. In intent and form they are similar to Health Impact Assessments and – in pre-disaster periods - might well be conducted jointly with them. This approach would be much less feasible if a community lacked a pre-arranged recovery plan and was required to produce one in the wake of disaster.

5.4 Advocacy: Use of HIAs by grass roots community organizations⁹

Earlier it was noted that HIAs could be viewed as decision-support tools or advocacy instruments. Most of the preceding sections have addressed the first of these contexts. Now let us turn briefly to the second. In the last two decades a noteworthy trend in disaster policy has been towards asking populations at risk to play a larger role in their own protection. (Lakoff 2010) Privatization of recovery decisions through increased reliance on insurance is a prominent example of this trend. Decentralizing some responsibilities downwards and outwards from the federal government and the public sector to local (mainly private) actors raises questions about whether local actors possess the capabilities to shoulder these new burdens. It also implies that local actors may want greater power to direct their own futures. **The articulation of local knowledge, preferences and expectations is a key property of HIAs so it is reasonable to recognize that they may be advocacy instruments as well as value-neutral aids to decision-making**. Groups that advocate reforms of policies on race, class, poverty and environment are prominent among the organizations that testify at hearings and other meetings convened to collect public opinions about recovery. (Corbin 2015).

The recognition and redress of health inequities have been important drivers of the HIA movement and social justice advocacy groups are among the most

⁹ This section of the report is not intended to be a detailed analysis of HIA use by advocacy groups. Such would only be possible after a lengthy investigation that was not feasible within the terms of reference and the resources available.

enthusiastic proponents of HIAs. That movement shares with other health-centered initiatives reliance on techniques of community participation and expert/lay engagement to improve disaster resilience. (Wells 2013) Inequities are also central to vulnerability-centered explanations of disaster; not only is the vulnerability of underprivileged or marginalized groups regarded as a powerful disaster-forcing factor but the gap between groups with higher and lower levels of vulnerability is viewed as growing wider and, as a consequence, the plight of the disadvantaged is becoming worse. In other words, health inequities and differential disaster vulnerabilities are related concepts in professional discourse; inequities in health outcomes and access to health services frequently exist between groups that have differing vulnerabilities to risks and hazards¹⁰.

About a quarter of all the HIAs currently completed or ongoing in the United States have been initiated and/or sponsored by non-governmental organizations that represent various local or regional interest groups. Many of these organizations are among the strongest proponents of HIAs, especially as vehicles for publicizing and redressing health inequities or environmental injustices that might be ignored or exacerbated by proposed plans, programs and projects. These organizations operate under a variety of names including: neighborhood associations, community advocacy groups, advisory councils, alliances, partnerships, institutes and public interest consulting firms. They often advocate on behalf of certain goals or interest groups that have a stake in the outcome of a proposed project. At least some – and perhaps many - view HIAs, first and foremost, as a means of democratizing public decision-making, not necessarily just for a particular action but as a strategy to encourage broader reforms of governance. Accordingly, they may raise awareness about issues connected with a proposed action but deemed peripheral to it by official decision makers, perhaps because of jurisdictional limits or other restrictive terms of reference. HIAs offer opportunities to include a wider range of public inputs than is typically tapped by conventional mechanisms for soliciting citizen inputs (e.g. meetings of local governing bodies, advisory board proceedings, public hearings, workshops, hotlines, opinion surveys).

Tensions between advocacy and impartiality prompt questions about how best to harness the knowledge, energy and talents of advocacy groups within the disaster recovery HIA process. Local community organizations that are involved in disaster recovery clearly include a wide range of types; the non-governmental ones cannot readily be assigned roles in the National Disaster Recovery Framework like their national and state government counterparts. Some are creations of insurgent grass roots social action movements. Most are voluntary and many are temporary, emerging in the wake of a disaster and fading away thereafter (e.g. various "rebuild" committees). Taken together these community-level NGOs are part of the social capital that is increasingly being called into play as a resource for reducing disaster impacts.

¹⁰ A competing explanation of hazard points to the worsening of risks occasioned by climate change and the workings of a global economic system that destabilizes communities that had developed long-term adaption strategies for living with hazards. (Mitchell 2015a)

Disaster researchers and professional practitioners are collaborating in support of improved recovery but a considerable working gap still separates them from laypersons. (Huggins et al 2015) Although there is widespread recognition that risk knowledge is increasingly co-produced by expert and lay communities, laypersons inputs are mainly sought for purposes of validating or fine tuning expert contributions, rather than as empowered actors in the decision making process. Since HIAs are crafted around principles of broad community engagement, it is likely that there will be some tension between the expert and lay communities.

In the aftermath of disasters, local residents are usually preoccupied with an array of tasks that leave little room for debating alternative proposals for reshaping their communities. Yet this is the time when HIAs might make the greatest contributions to ensuring safer and healthier futures; futures that will be difficult to secure without active "buy ins" by affected populations. This argues for a measure of **expert technical support** for any local grass roots group that seeks to mount an HIA though with safeguards to protect scientific integrity. Awareness raising meetings, training, handbooks and other devices that are tailored to the needs of grass roots advocacy organizations might be developed. Advocates might be included in bodies that advise HIA teams sponsored by public entities.

5.5 Summary

Despite limited awareness of Health Impact Assessment among hazards management organizations, when this tool is made known to them there is significant receptivity toward its use in support of disaster recovery decisions and there are active efforts to accommodate it within existing practice. These actions are currently best developed in federal government agencies at the top end of the administrative pyramid though decisions that have the most direct health implications - and the ones that are more readily comprehended by lay populations - take place mainly at the base of the pyramid in local municipalities. There the functions of HIAs are more complex than among the federal agencies. In addition to informing local populations about prospective health outcomes of proposed recovery measures, they provide local governments with valuable non-expert information about interpretations, preferences and expectations that affect the potential for successful recovery. This information reinforces trends towards the co-production of knowledge and it democratizes decision-making, both necessary components of a U.S. policy system that increasingly relies on the public to play larger roles in their own protection against storms, floods and other risks. In addition the HIAs offer a means for addressing inequities in the burdens of vulnerability that are borne by different groups and in the distribution of protective services that are available for redress. The reduction of inequities is becoming a prominent item on the hazards management agendas of governmental agencies but efforts to counter these problems still draw heavily on the activism of local advocacy organizations. HIAs appear to be sufficiently flexible to accommodate productive partnerships between science-based public agencies and advocacy-oriented organizations that also employ non-scientific means for advancing their goals.

6.0 Expert Opinions: Thought leader perspectives

Information was gathered at special sessions of national professional and scholarly meetings and additional inputs were received at separate "thought leader" gatherings convened by the project organizers. In chronological order, the principal meetings included: (1) the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Recovery Workshop, Washington, D.C., March 3-4, 2015 (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 2015); (2) the National Health Impact Assessment Meeting, Washington, DC, June 16-18, 2015 (Pew Charitable Trusts 2015) and (3) the 40th Annual Natural Hazards Research and Applications Workshop, Broomfield, Colorado, July 19-22, 2015 (Natural Hazards Center 2015). Findings from these meetings are summarized below.

6.1 Department of Health and Human Services, ASPR Workshop on Recovery (March 3-4, 2015)

The purpose of this workshop was: "...to discuss systematic approaches to recovery, to identify gaps or challenges from recent experiences, and to promote promising practices in an effort to establish a national dialogue for the health and social services emergency management community." Approximately 100 people attended, most drawn from federal government agencies but with significant representation from other health interest groups. The meeting format combined formal panel presentations followed by simultaneous breakout discussion sessions whose participants rotated among different topic groups throughout the meeting.

Panelists pointed out that health issues, including health recovery, have historically received little attention from experts in the North American hazard research and management community. Likewise, American health professionals and health researchers have tended to ignore disaster issues, especially those connected with long-term post-disaster recovery. Few attendees appear to have heard of Health Impact Assessment, especially in the context of disaster recovery. Some (e.g. members of the Centers for Disaster Control and Recovery/U.S. Public Health Service) used the term HIA to refer to methods of identifying immediate health care *needs* in the wake of disaster and had considerable experience with those efforts; but they did not assess *responses* (i.e. plans, programs or projects) aimed at promoting longer term recovery.

One presenter suggested that the disaster recovery system was relatively well defined at its top and bottom (i.e. national and local) levels but uncertain at the intermediate level; there intergovernmental organizations, philanthropic foundations, financing bodies, the mass media, professional associations, community development corporations, and other entities were increasingly influential but uncertainties about their roles, capabilities and responsibilities were high. Another presenter remarked that disaster recovery is not typically addressed by local emergency managers, on whom the bulk of preparedness, warning, evacuation, rescue and sheltering functions ultimately devolve. Loss of funding for public health programs, especially those that provide mental health services was mentioned by many participants as severely limiting what might be done to improve health during what are often long recovery trajectories. After the 2008 recession approximately \$8 Billion was removed from the national budgets for mental health care.

Priority needs identified by participants were those that are basic to the creation of most large scale public policy initiatives: granting statutory authority for disaster recovery interventions; providing funding necessary to take necessary actions; and institutionalizing (standardized) procedures and tools necessary for executing them.

6.2 Thought Leader Meeting (Washington, DC)

The primary purpose of this meeting on June 18, 2015 was to gather information from national policy and management professionals who have experience of disaster recovery programs and operations and a selection of other user groups. Fifteen experts drawn mainly from federal government agencies, research organizations and academia participated in a meeting of thought leaders that was held after the 3rd National Health Impact Assessment Meeting.¹¹ There seemed to be agreement that **a more structured** approach to making health an integral element of disaster recovery planning is necessary and that some form of HIA could play an important role in this initiative. Participants pointed out limitations to existing cost-benefit analysis tools employed for choosing among alternative recovery measures, especially neglect of poor health's broad social costs. They also drew distinctions between HIA as a broad and malleable process for ensuring greater attention to health issues across the span of public decisionmaking and HIA as an off-the-shelf standardized tool for systematic use by particular agencies or municipalities. It was urged that implementation of disaster recovery HIAs should be pursued in ways that neither slow the process of recovery nor divert attention away from the larger goal of promoting inclusion of "Health In All Policies" (HIAP). The degree to which decision makers accept that good health is important will likely determine the success or failure of HIAs; evidence of its cost effectiveness when implemented during recovery might be particularly persuasive. A generally healthier community should be a planned outcome of recovery activities not just a spinoff benefit of choosing the least unhealthful alternative. Local laypeople were often better at illuminating the merits and disadvantages of particular alternatives rather than suggesting additional (new) alternatives.

Most of the expert group expressed interest in a two-stage approach that combined elements of both perspectives. Initially, a programmatic HIA might be conducted, for

¹¹ Among others the following were represented: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD); U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS); Environmental Protection Agency (EPA); American Planning Institute (APA); U.S. National Academies; Mt. Sinai Hospital, New York; Madison County Wisconsin; George Washington University; Georgia State University; Rutgers University.

purposes of assessing the health impacts of the full range of existing and potential recovery measures. This might best be described as an HIA-informed analysis of alternative actions, and it could be executed without significant community engagement, at any time, including in the absence of disaster. Once a disaster occurred, a more detailed HIA would be implemented with strong community engagement and customization of the alternatives assessed in the programmatic HIA. This second-stage HIA should be employed at certain existing decision points, where the information that it provides would have the largest effect on recovery rates and outcomes. The use of HIAs could either be mandated or incentivized. Opinions about appropriate insertion points, included, among others: via information and education initiatives mounted by the White House Office of Science and Technology Policy; during the formulation of hazard mitigation plans; when local communities were preparing applications for federal funding; as part of the National Flood Insurance Program's Community Rating System. Other avenues are also likely. Fig. 6.1 summarizes the main elements of a two-stage disaster recovery HIA process.

Fig. 6.1: A Two stage HIA process for Disaster Recovery Contexts

STAGE ONE

- Identify common post-disaster decisions that have the greatest potential to affect health
- Prepare programmatic HIA-informed analyses of alternative recovery actions at these points.

STAGE TWO

 Conduct HIAs that incorporate Stage One results, with minimum standards for community involvement and technical assistance, and support their use in formal decisions about pre-disaster planning and post-disaster recovery with appropriate incentives and/or mandates

The advantages of a two-stage approach are considerable. An HIA-informed analysis of alternatives could be mounted in the absence of a disaster and it findings would be capable of application to any disaster thereafter, needing only periodic updating to take account of new kinds of recovery measures, or new kinds of data or improved analytic methods, as these became available. It would provide useful guidance for the application of the second stage HIA by suggesting alternatives that might not otherwise be considered either by public officials or affected populations. Thought leaders mentioned that initial decisions about appropriate recovery measures, made expediently after disaster, often foreclosed many alternatives that might have been adopted. The first stage HIA could help to counteract that tendency. It will be important to create incentives and/or mandates for: (1) carrying out disaster recovery HIAs with minimum standards for community engagement and, (2) for ensuring that they receive consideration in the formal decisions that are taken in support of recovery.

6.3 40th Annual Natural Hazards Workshop, Broomfield, CO, July, 2015

The purpose of this meeting was to solicit inputs about disaster recovery HIAs from a cross-section of leading U.S. professionals and scholars whose work focuses on research and management of natural hazards. Approximately 450 specialists attended the parent Workshop and about forty of these, with special interests in the health dimensions of disaster, participated in an hour-long special session focused on Health Impact Assessment. Half of the special session participants came from academia with the remainder divided between public agencies of federal, state or local government and private consulting forms. Half of the session was devoted to presentations by a panel of experts and half to comments and questions from the audience.

Panelists pointed out a general absence of health considerations in existing arrangements for managing disaster recovery as well as insufficient vertical or horizontal integration among different parts of the recovery system. Because recovery needs are diverse and recovery problems are experienced unevenly within populations at risk, an across-the-board perspective, keved to average community needs, is less useful than a focus on vulnerable groups that bear disproportionate burdens and require special kinds of attention. Recovery projects should not reproduce existing health inequities and local governments should be held accountable for the use of state resources that are earmarked for recovery. HIAs that are flexible and adaptive to emerging issues are strongly preferred. Several changes to the national disaster recovery system would facilitate optimal use of HIAs. These include: (1) clear definitions of operating concepts (e.g. health, health recovery, holistic approaches) and improved measurement of local needs; (2) evaluation of resources available to address those needs; and (3) ability to track changes in benchmarks and resource flows over time. Informal HIAs were already being done by a few innovative disaster recovery organizations and a more formal public process is now desirable.

Questions raised by the audience revealed **very limited knowledge about Health Impact Assessments among members of the hazards research and management community**, but significant interest in the potential that they might offer. Many questions inquired about the basics of HIA execution (e.g. timing, duration, and data needs). Some sought information about the breadth of application of HIAs; for example, might they be adapted for use with ongoing diseases and epidemics as well as in the aftermath of storms, floods and non-biological hazards? Attendees were especially curious about **the degree to which HIAs could be "mapped onto" the National Disaster Recovery framework** because it is organized around the provision of aid at critical times and for different periods. They also wanted **evidence that implementation of HIAs could facilitate quicker recovery** paths. Some of those with practical experience of recovery from major disasters were concerned that **HIAs might add to the workload of recovery personnel** and thereby produce delays that would widen the perceived disconnect between agency personnel preoccupied with assessment activities and victims clamoring for action. The hazards research and management community lacks experience of Health Impact Assessment and its members are ripe for receiving information and education about the use and potential of these decision-support mechanisms. Factors likely to affect adoption of this innovation include: funding, policies and regulations, and the social capital that is available to build capacity for undertaking HIAs. In addition, pre-event planning and preparedness is an essential complement to post-disaster recovery; both types of intervention present opportunities to introduce health considerations into decision-making to mutual advantage. Mechanisms for promoting the use of HIAs should be crafted in light of these constraints.

7.0 HIA Case Studies in New Jersey

Project staff teams carried out two case study HIAs in New Jersey communities that suffered serious losses during Hurricane Sandy. Detailed reports about these are available elsewhere. This section focuses on study findings that cast light on the fit between HIAs and the existing hazard policy and management systems.

The two cases featured respectively a (mainly) green infrastructure project and a property buyout/ relocation program; the former in a large highly urbanized municipality located opposite Manhattan on the New York harbor waterfront (Hoboken) and the latter in a small thinly populated semi-rural municipality on the shores of Barnegat Bay at the periphery of the New York metropolitan area (Little Egg Harbor). While these places have the advantage of illustrating two representative types of policy responses in two different kinds of community they also have some limitations as tests of the utility of HIAs that might aid decisions about disaster recovery.

The Hoboken HIA addressed health impacts associated with a storm water management program that was intended to cope with periodic "nuisance" flooding, not catastrophes like hurricane Sandy. It is one of a series of post-Sandy flood mitigation measures that together were part of a more comprehensive post-disaster package of initiatives in Hoboken. Other components of the package were not subject to HIAs mostly because of timing and cost issues. It was also observed that the research environment was sometimes congested. Other Hoboken initiatives were gathering information at the same time as the present study and, in practice it was difficult for local informants to distinguish among the different ongoing projects.

In Little Egg Harbor a buyout of flooded properties was proposed with a set of hypothetical scenarios. An HIA focusing on this choice was undertaken with the expectation that the proposal might be acted upon at some point in the near future. Participants, including local leaders, were unsure about whether a buyout program would eventually go into effect. This may have influenced the HIA process in, as yet unknown ways. **For purposes of testing the HIAs it would have been better if the Hoboken project had been initiated in response to a major disaster rather than a more routine hazard and it would have been better if a program of buyouts in Little Egg Harbor had been fully approved rather than still being discussed.**

In the United States physical reconstruction projects have historically dominated the process of long-term disaster recovery and they still account for a majority of public spending. The use of expert scientific and professional knowledge has also been a prominent feature. But these HIAs differ on both counts. Green infrastructure and buyouts are, to a significant degree, non-structural responses. The strong emphasis of HIAs on gathering structured inputs of information about health, risks and preferred community futures – from local laypersons as well as experts – also stands in contrast to other more expert-centered approaches. Perhaps because of their novelty, **sponsors, public officials**

and others active in different parts of the recovery process expected much of the case study HIAs.

The HIAs were positively revealing in several ways both about the HIA process itself and about the specifics of recovery choices. First, these studies demonstrate that **it is possible to execute a detailed HIA while disaster recovery is ongoing** and at a sufficiently early stage that its findings are available for decision makers to make use of. Before this project it was not clear that such was feasible. Second, an impressive **amount of high quality information about health status and outcomes was assembled and analyzed**. Third, the perceived **salience of mental health problems** was marked. Fourth, the HIAs showed **health improvement was a high priority recovery goal among leaders and local residents** in both communities, deserving of more attention than it usually receives. Fifth, the **HIAs increased the visibility of community health professionals and provided data they could make use** of as arbiters of health issues and advocates for increased attention to health-related recovery decisions. Sixth, they underscored **the gap between urgent public needs for assistance and a formal recovery system that was often slow and mismatched** with the problems at hand.

Public input to the HIAs also uncovered aspects of proposed recovery measures that were insufficiently anticipated, sometimes counterintuitive and occasionally unwelcomed by their proponents. For example, innovative environmentally friendly technologies that generally get high marks for public acceptability may have unexpected distributional equity impacts for some populations, such as people living downstream from where green infrastructures are installed (e.g. Hoboken). Coastal communities (e.g. Little Egg Harbor) are strongly associated with desirable amenities and salubrious living. Together with the passage of time and uncertainty about replacement land uses for vacated sites, these factors work against public acceptance of property buyouts. Among others, those findings highlight: (1) the value of HIAs as mechanisms for revealing weaknesses in recovery programs, especially those that rely on voluntary public compliance; (2) the usefulness of community "visioning" as an aid to HIAs; and (3) the importance of constraints on access to recovery programs that differentiate between those who can and cannot take advantage of them.

The studies also functioned as a kind of "stress test" of HIAs in a novel post-disaster setting, thereby highlighting issues and providing other insights into aspects of the HIA process that might prove problematic and require modification in future recovery HIAs. Among others these include: (1) screening; (2) the treatment of recovery alternatives; (3) data compatibility; (4) participation; and (5) the potential for weakening support for already decided actions.

The **initial screening stage of the HIA process presented major difficulties** for researchers. The number of candidates for study was large and varied, composed of different types of responses at various scales and on different schedules. Collecting information necessary to screen out the less likely candidates was a time consuming and at times frustrating task, usually conducted in a rapidly changing information environment, constrained by the available budget as well as by the opening and closing of opportunity windows as new candidates appeared, old ones disappeared and those that remained were subject to design modifications or other changes. Six of the most viable candidates were eventually assessed in some detail. The relative prominence of infrastructure projects and the difficulty of designing HIAs that would accommodate multipart projects in multiple jurisdictions were noteworthy features of the screening process. Three candidates were infrastructure projects in single municipalities and the others were, respectively, a multijurisdictional effort to adopt flood plain management measures necessary to secure higher scores in the NFIP's Community Rating System; a six-part set of resiliency-building projects in one municipality; and a voluntary home buyout in another. The six candidates were eventually winnowed to the final two. Changes continued to affect the Health Impact Assessment throughout the entire process and are likely to occur in similar post-disaster studies elsewhere; as one investigator commented, "...choices that were there at the beginning may not be there at the end". As this report was being completed stories about strong local opposition to the building of seawalls that are intended to reduce flood penetration of Hoboken appeared in the press; it is not at all clear that the package of proposals of which the green infrastructure project that is the focus of our HIA is one component, would go forward. (New York Times, February 8, 2016)

A lack of attention to alternative recovery measures was also problematic. HIAs tend to assess specific proposed or agreed upon actions, which may or may not represent the best available choices as measured by criteria of healthfulness as well as other yardsticks (e.g. economic efficiency, environmental fit, social acceptability). It is possible to take account of alternatives in the recommendations component of a HIA, but this is not the same as assessing comparative health impacts across the broad range of possible actions. It might well be that the healthiest disaster recovery outcomes would be secured by a project different from the one under consideration. Without guidance about the health consequences of alternatives the full value of an HIA may be missed. There is a pressing need for more information to fill this gap.

The Little Egg Harbor HIA uncovered **potential weaknesses in the public engagement phase of HIAs that involve property owners who do not live permanently in the subject community (e.g. second home owners) or residents who use health facilities and other daily living services in jurisdictions outside the HIA's reference area.** The latter conditions are common in small oceanfront municipalities along much of the U.S. coast and they cause sampling and baseline data compatibility problems for analysts as well as limiting the participation of important stakeholder groups. In addition the departure of an HIA enthusiast who acted as liaison between the HIA team and local government illustrated how important such individuals are in small municipalities with limited staffs, and how difficult to replace. Finally, in Hoboken, the HIA uncovered a concern that its community engagement format might give scope for airing and exaggerating objections to a green infrastructure project that was already popular among scientists, local leaders and public interest groups¹². **Once there is widespread support for a given course of action, local leaders may be loathe to increase the scope for further debate**

¹² Similar misgivings have been voiced about the disproportionate publicity afforded skeptics of anthropogenic climate change in the United States and elsewhere.

by introducing information that might render the agreed choice less appealing. This argues for earlier introduction of HIA information in the decision-making process.

The two post-disaster HIA studies proved highly valuable for identifying systematic strengths and weaknesses of disaster recovery-related HIAs though the projects that were assessed did not provide an *ideal* test of their utility. In both cases the decisions under review were constrained by unique factors, or factors peculiar to each situation. However, in one overriding respect, both cases were highly reflective of reality. Disasters exemplify less-than-ideal circumstances. They rarely present decision makers with a standard menu of recovery choices. Contexts are specific and surprises are common; improvisation and "satisficing" decisions are the norm. The design and execution of post-disaster HIAs is no less bound by these constraints than the recovery measures.

8.0 **Recommendations**

The process of Health Impact Assessment needs no fundamental changes to make it useful in support of disaster recovery policies, plans and projects but it would greatly benefit from a combination of modifications to make it more appropriately fitted for that purpose. These include: becoming much better known among potential user groups; careful targeting to ensure that HIAs are applied at the points where they have the greatest potential to affect decision outcomes; strategic pre-screening of recovery alternatives that may or may not be part of candidate HIA projects; broadening to take account of all the health outcomes that might be captured by holistic recovery programs; and streamlining to provide the speed and flexibility necessary to perform successfully in a complex and dynamic post-disaster context. Toward those ends the following steps are recommended:

8.1

Recommendation 1: Awareness

Invest major effort to publicize HIAs among target user groups in communities of hazard and health professionals that have responsibilities, skills and/or interests in disaster recovery.

Lack of awareness of the HIA process and weak communications between health improvement and hazard management specialists are notable at present. There is evidence of commitment to closer engagement of health and hazards agencies at the **federal** level but practical steps to bring these communities – and especially their local counterparts - into fruitful interaction, are needed. The Pew Charitable Trusts and the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation might take the lead here, together with the Federal Emergency Management Agency, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services and the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development.

Involvement of **local** disaster recovery actors is even more important. Given the rarity of municipal level disaster recovery personnel it may be best to target available experts in other phases of the disaster cycle, like Emergency Managers and Flood Plain Managers. They are often valuable repositories of knowledge about disaster risk management and health that are both known to, and trusted by, local populations. Where they exist, local resilience partnerships (typically comprised of local officials, researchers, non-governmental organizations), including especially those with involvement in climate adaptation work, would also be priority targets for education and outreach. There is already widespread acceptance of risk and vulnerability analyses as essential tools for planning disaster preparedness and response measures. At the time these are being undertaken it would be worthwhile to signal the value of HIAs as follow up actions in high risk and high vulnerability communities.

Recommendation 2: Pivots of application

Insert HIAs into the disaster recovery decision-making system at key points of application.

Mainstreaming HIAs throughout the National Disaster Recovery Process is certainly desirable and certain federal initiatives are disproportionately important in achieving successful recovery from disasters, especially through funding and regulatory mechanisms. Chief among these are: Federal Recovery Task Forces; the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP); FEMA Public Assistance Program; Hazard Mitigation Plans; and the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program. Recent additions to this list, that may become significant in the future, include the National Disaster Resilience Competition and similar competitions (e.g. Rebuild by Design).

Given the number and variety of post-disaster recovery decisions taken by impacted communities, guidance about the optimal use of HIAs is not a simple matter. Recovery decisions that are broad in scope and early in the process are likely to have the greatest long-term impact on human health and wellbeing. Decisions taken by a Presidential or Gubernatorial rebuilding task force that is convened soon after a disaster can set general strategies that have far-reaching implications, as can decisions about flood insurance maps, regulations and FEMA's Community Rating System.

The value of assessing health outcomes of strategic decisions is considerable. Changes to NFIP regulations are illustrative. Requiring that homes be elevated after a disaster can be a problem for elderly or infirm residents who are accustomed to ground floor living, dependent on fixed incomes and unable to take on new mortgages. (Langan and Palmer 2012; Leckner et al 2016; Mitchell 2016; Brown and Frahm 2016) At the time of Hurricane Sandy FEMA was in the process of creating updated flood insurance rate maps and issuing new base flood elevation data, a situation that caused considerable confusion among populations at risk. Since the new maps do not take account either of hurricane Sandy (a record-setting event) or projections of likely sea level rise, it is possible that further modifications will be necessary during future storms. One or more HIAs that compare health effects of modified risk zones and modified base flood elevations in high risk and high vulnerability locations under future climatic conditions, would be particularly helpful as anticipatory decision-support tools.

In contrast to strategic decisions, local blueprint-like proposals tend to elicit stronger feelings among members of communities directly affected by the disaster. Local decisions about construction permits, or the location of protective structures, or open space acquisition, or changes to pre-disaster facilities, services and land uses, are far more likely to engender lively debates. Recent post-Sandy examples include proposals to raise the permitted heights of buildings and construct public seawalls across private property. Intermediate between the national/state strategies and local projects are other decisions like those associated with the Rebuild by Design projects after hurricane Sandy or applications for Community Development Block Grants; these typically have both broad applicability (i.e. multi-municipal or regional in scope) and are more specific in intention and design. Finally, there are decisions about matters that are not directly about disaster recovery but - because of their indirect effects on life support systems, livelihoods and habitats – can have portentous implications for the health of humans and the management of places or peoples at risk. Energy plans¹³ and climate adaptation plans are representative examples.

Federal Task Forces might be valuable conduits for recommending wider use of HIAs by those who are engaged in making more detailed rebuilding decisions later in the recovery process. So might climate adaptation plans or packages of proposals submitted by states to the CDBG process. Given the relatively slow pace at which CDBG programs are organized they may be particularly strong candidates for HIAs. Likewise, proposals submitted to the Rebuild by Design process (or its successor Disaster Recovery Resilience Competition) are sufficiently specific to warrant the use of an HIA for each project. The same would be true of municipal level plans or other detailed local recovery initiatives.

8.3

Recommendation 3: Appraisal of recovery alternatives

Conduct a systematic analysis of the health impacts of the full range of disaster recovery alternatives, with a view to providing a databank of information about their comparative health outcomes as well as other consequences.

The value of any impact assessment, whether a NEPA-mandated Environmental Impact Statement or a Health Impact Assessment or other, depends in part on the treatment of alternatives to the action that is the subject of assessment. Without a comparative analysis of alternatives it is difficult to confirm whether the contemplated course is the best possible or how far it falls short of that standard. If another alternative would produce better health outcomes, without incurring offsetting disadvantages, it would likely be a superior choice. Alternatives have been assessed in a handful of HIAs¹⁴ but these were generally confined to alternative routes or alternative locations for the same facilities. There is, as yet, nothing approaching a systematic comparative assessment of disaster recovery alternatives. Without this kind of study such disaster recovery HIAs as might be undertaken will provide only partial and possibly maladapted guidance to decision makers.

¹³ Valmeyer, IL, Pattonsburg, MO, Soldiers Grove, WI and Greensburg, KS are among communities that leveraged recovery with the assistance of federally funded energy efficiency programs. (IOM 2015). Alaskan rural communities at risk to permafrost melting, erosion and flooding are engaged in similar efforts at present. (White House 2015)

¹⁴ HIAs that considered alternatives include: California High Speed rail - San Jose to Merced Corridor; California State Gas Tax alternatives; I-5 Columbia River crossing alternatives; Metro West subway extension (Los Angeles); Portland to Lake Oswego (Oregon) transit alternatives; potential utility fee to fund Columbia transit; Power generation alternatives for the Michoud Natural gas plants; Tice Community connectivity; Trenton farmers' market; Treatment alternatives to prison alternatives.

Ideally, a Health Impact Assessment of recovery alternatives would function as a single reference source for use in subsequent disaster-recovery HIAs, thereby simplifying and speeding the screening stage of full scale HIAs, which has proven to be the most problematic part of the process¹⁵. It would also have value in the recommendations stage of the HIA process by providing decision-makers with data about alternatives that were not included in the project under evaluation. The study might focus on cases of disaster recovery that are already documented, with additional details gathered by interviews, focus groups and surveys of disaster-affected populations. In so doing it could provide an avenue of retrospective public input (albeit with a different population) to complement the prospective community engagement aspect of the HIA. The study should be periodically expanded and updated as innovative recovery alternatives are developed. If, as is sometimes suggested, HIAs were to be mainstreamed in NEPA-style Environmental Impact Assessments, the review would also provide a useful framework with which to facilitate that task. Assuming that such a study is undertaken all subsequent recovery-related HIAs would become, in effect, **"alternatives-informed HIAs"**.

8.4

Recommendation 4: Guidance for choosing among HIAs

Provide decision-makers and HIA users with better guidance for choosing among different kinds of HIAs in post-disaster contexts.

Decisions about long-term recovery that are taken in the wake of disasters pose stiff challenges for the HIA process. Post-disaster environments are usually marked by instability, uncertainty and urgency, factors that are not conducive to lengthy in-depth inquiries at a time when clear thinking is called for. At present there is only limited guidance about which of several different types of HIA (i.e. desktop, rapid, comprehensive, programmatic) might be best able to provide useful information to decision-makers, either alone or in combination, under different local circumstances. (Heller et al 2014) Timely knowledge that is sufficient for the task at hand is more useful than better knowledge that arrives late. In addition, the choice of HIA variants is likely to be influenced by the degree to which predisaster inquiries and planning have already filled in some of the unknowns (e.g. measures included in Hazard Mitigation Plans; grass roots community-wide "visions" about desired future health and hazards norms).

Community engagement that provides information inputs from disaster-affected populations is at the core of the HIA process. Therefore it is imperative that such be facilitated to the greatest extent possible, though managing community participation that is representative and informed is perhaps the most time-consuming and potentially fraught part of the process. It is recognized that a scientifically valid analysis of alternative HIAs is likely to be difficult because they have heretofore been undertaken on an ad hoc basis rather than systematically. Nonetheless, the availability of guidance about the selection of

¹⁵ A recent analysis of the impacts of HIAs on public decision-making concluded that screening is also the stage that is most crucial for overall success. (Bourcier 2014)

appropriate HIA types would go a long way toward enhancing their use in post-disaster contexts.

8.5

Recommendation 5: Grassroots technical support

Provide appropriate technical support for local advocacy groups that seek to use HIAs for the joint reduction of health inequities and disaster vulnerabilities.

HIAs have tapped into a latent demand for lay participation in public decision making. Perhaps their central value is that they uncover and articulate grass roots perceptions and knowledge pertinent to proposed public choices. In this respect they are similar to other types of co-produced knowledge seeking that are now beginning to enhance public decisionmaking. Among these are: participant mapping using GPS and GIS technology; volunteered geographic information that employs social media and cloud sources; and real time remotely sensed imagery of ongoing events. Each of these other instruments has found innovative applications in support of post-disaster decision-making. (Henry-Nickie et al 2008; Picou 2009; Zook et al 2010; Horita and de Albuquerque 2013) The central problems they confront are similar to those that arise in Health Impact Assessment, namely how to assure the reliability of lay information inputs and how to reconcile data that is volunteered by laypersons with data that has been collected and compiled by systematic scientific means. In non-disaster situations the accuracy and reliability of scientific information is generally high relative to that of lay populations and there is less need to interrogate its validity. But the same is not necessarily true in the wake for disasters, where there may be gaps in existing information banks and insufficient time to gather the data necessary to plug them, especially at the scale where local decisions about recovery are made. There is significant potential for cross-learning between these other technical innovations and HIAs. It is recommended that research, education and training efforts be mounted to achieve those ends.

Some technical support is already available to local communities to assist them with tasks of disaster recovery as well as the solicitation and management of broad-based public participation in governmental decision-making. For example the National Charrette Institute (http://www.charretteinstitute.org) supplies help in executing public information gathering and visioning exercises associated with hazards and disasters (Watson and Adams 2011) and the American Planning Association deploys Community Planning Assistance Teams (CTAPs) that can deliver specialized guidance to disaster stricken and atrisk communities. (Schwab 2014)

8.6

Recommendation 6: Broadening and integration

Encourage research organizations to develop methods for integrating health impact assessments with economic and environmental impact assessments.

Almost a century of research on human responses to natural hazards and disasters has shown that decision-making under conditions of environmental uncertainty is a complex task subject to multiple evaluative criteria. For a long time in the United States economic and technological criteria have tended to dominate public choices among adjustments to risk and disaster but it is now common to also give major attention to ecological (i.e. ecosystem) factors. This is reflected in the emerging acceptance and operationalization of concepts like environmental sustainability and holistic recovery. Now health is becoming a further evaluative criterion¹⁶. The effect of disaster response measures on human health is one aspect of a larger set of decisions about health assessment applications. Already there are calls for integrating several of these tools and such demands will likely grow. Because of its strong emphasis on public participation in the shaping of decisions about health outcomes. Health Impact Assessment is a novel instrument that will pose unusual challenges to the task of integration. It is not too soon to begin thinking about the role of HIAs in this process, particularly how society should mediate and weight health considerations in the broader balance of social choices. It is a research puzzle with strong practical consequences and the aftermath of disasters provides a testing context for working out the governance arrangements that will be necessary.

¹⁶Others that might be in the offing include various human rights that are aspired to and codified in documents like the Universal Declaration of Human Rights.

REFERENCES¹⁷

Abramson, David, Donna Van Alst, Alexis Merdjanoff, Rachael Piltch-Loeb, Jaishree Beedasy, Patricia Findley, Lori Peek, Meghan Mordy, Sandra Moroso, Kerrie Ocasio, Yoon Soo Park, Jonathan Sury, Jennifer Tobin-Gurley. 2015. *The Hurricane Sandy Person Report: Disaster Exposure, Health Impacts, Economic Burden, and Social Well-Being*. Sandy Child and Family Health Study, Rutgers University School of Social Work, New York University College of Global Public Health, Columbia University National Center for Disaster Preparedness, Colorado State University Center for Disaster and Risk Analysis, Briefing Report 2015-2. < http://publichealth.nyu.edu/content/dam/mph/documents/SCAFH_Person_Report_Final-2.pdf>

Adams, Vincanne, Sharon R. Kaufman, Taslim Van Hattum and Sandra Moody. 2011. "Aging disaster: Mortality, Vulnerability, and Long-term recovery among Katrina survivors," *Medical Anthropology* 30(3): 247-270. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3098037/

Alexander, David. 2002. *Principles of Emergency Planning and Management*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

American Planning Association. 2015a. *Health Impact Assessments*. Planning and Community Health Research Center. Chicago. https://www.planning.org/nationalcenters/health/healthimpactassess.htm

American Planning Association 2015b. *Planning for Healthy Places with Health Impact Assessments.* Online course in conjunction with the National Association of County and City Health Officials. Chicago. http://advance.captus.com/planning/hia2/home.aspx

Andress, Julie, Meaghan McGrath, Heather West and Sarah Wilson. 2015. *Flood Mitigation Bond*, Morgan Stanley Sustainable Investment Challenge, April 17, 2015. http://sustainableinvestingchallenge.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/Flood-Mitigation-Impact-Bond.pdf Also: http://sustainableinvestingchallenge.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/FMB-Prospectus_041415.pdf

Baker, Lisa R. and Loretta A. Cormier. 2015. *Disasters and Vulnerable Populations: Evidence-based practice for the helping professions*. New York. Springer.

Becker, Christine. 2009. "Disaster recovery: A local government responsibility," *Public Management* 91(2) 6-13.

http://icma.org/en/icma/knowledge_network/documents/kn/Document/4718/Disaster_R ecovery_A_Local_Government_Responsibility

¹⁷ All electronic sources were accessed during February 2016.

Bhatia, Rajiv and Aaron Wernham. 2008. "Integrating human health into environmental impact assessment: An Unrealized opportunity for environmental health and justice," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 116(8) 991-1000.

Bhatia, R. 2011. *Health Impact Assessment: A Guide for Practice*. Oakland, CA: Human Impact Partners.

http://www.pewtrusts.org/~/media/assets/2011/01/01/bhatia_2011_hia_guide_for_pract ice.pdf

Bhatia R, Farhang L, Heller J, Lee M, Orenstein M, Richardson M and Wernham A. 2014. *Minimum Elements and Practice Standards for Health Impact Assessment*, Version 3. September. < http://hiasociety.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/HIA-Practice-Standards-September-2014.pdf>

Bourcier, E., Charbonneau, D., Cahill, C., & Dannenberg, A. (2014). *Do health impact assessments make a difference? A national evaluation of HIAs in the United States*. Seattle: Center for Community Health and Evaluation. < http://www.rwjf.org/content/dam/farm/reports/issue_briefs/2014/rwjf409204>

Brown, Lisa M. and Kathryn A. Frahm. 2016. "The impact of disasters: Implications for the well-being of older adults," in *Handbook of Aging and the Social Sciences*. (Ed. Linda George and Kenneth Ferraro). 8th edition. Academic Press. London. pp. 357-374.

Brubaker M., Bell J., Dingman H., Morales R., Tagarook. 2014. *Climate Change in Wainwright, Alaska, Strategies for Community Health.* ANTHC. http://www.anthc.org/chs/ces/climate/climateandhealthreports.cfm

Brubaker M., Berner J., Bell J., Warren J., Rolin A. 2010. *Climate Change in Point Hope, Alaska, Strategies for Community Health*. ANTHC Center for Climate and Health, August. http://www.anthc.org/chs/ces/climate/climateandhealthreports.cfm

Brubaker M., Bell J., Dingman H., Itta M., Kasak K. 2014. *Climate Change in Nuiqsut, Alaska, Strategies for Community Health*. ANTHC. Center for Climate and Health . http://www.anthc.org/chs/ces/climate/climateandhealthreports.cfm

Brubaker M., Bell J., Dingman H., Ahkivgak M., Whiteman D. 2014. *Climate Change in Atqasuk, Alaska, Strategies for Community Health.* ANTHC. Center for Climate and Health. http://www.anthc.org/chs/ces/climate/climateandhealthreports.cfm

Bundy, Sarah J. and Jessica Jensen. 2015. "The role of the county-elected official in disaster recovery," *Risk, Hazards and Crisis in Public Policy* 6(3): 259-289.

Calvo, Rocio, Maruana Arcaya, Christopher F. Baum, Sarah R. Lowe and Mary C. Waters. 2015. "Happily ever after? Pre-and-post disaster determinants of Happiness among survivors of Hurricane Katrina," *Journal of Happiness Studies* 16(2): 427-442. ">http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4465176/>

Carnegie, Jon, Jeanne Herb, Karen Lowrie, Jennifer Senick and Leigh Ann Von Hagen. 2015. "Integrating health into community design and decision-making: Opportunities for New Jersey Municipalities," *Friends of Local Government, Policy Paper Series* Vol. 7(1). Rutgers University, Eward J. Bloustein School of Planning and Public Policy. < http://www.njlmef.org/policy-papers/FoLG_v7_1.pdf>

City of New Orleans. 2015. Application to the US Department of Housing and Urban Development, National Disaster Resilience Competition (FR-5800-N-29), Draft for Public Comment, February 25. http://nola.gov/resilience/resources/cno-ndrc-draft-for-public-comment_sec-%281%29/>

Cole, Brian L., Michelle Wilhelm. Peter V. Long, Jonathan E. Fielding, Gerald Kominski and Hal Morgenstern. 2004. "Prospects for Health Impact Assessment in the United States: New and Improved Environmental Impact Assessment or something different?" *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law* 29(6); 1153-1186.

Collins , T.W., A. M. Jimenez and S. E. Grineski. 2013. "Hispanic health disparities after a flood disaster: Results of a population-based survey of individuals experiencing home site damage in El Paso, Texas," *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health* 15(2): 415-426.

Corbin, Tanya B. 2015. "Leveraging Disaster: Promoting Social Justice and Holistic Recovery through Policy Advocacy after Hurricane Katrina," *Journal of Public Management & Social Policy* Vol. 22: No. 2, Article 5. Available at: ">http://digitalscholarship.tsu.edu/jpmsp/vol22/iss2/5>

Dacquisto, David J. and David T. Rodda. 2006. *Housing Impact Analysis*. Office of Policy Development and Research, U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. http://www.huduser.gov/portal/Publications/pdf/hsgimpact.pdf

Delaware Cabinet Committee on Climate and Resilience. 2014. *Climate Framework for Delaware: Summary of Recommendations*. December 31. http://www.dnrec.delaware.gov/energy/Documents/The%20Climate%20Framework%20f or%20Delaware.pdf

Douglas, Ian. 2008. "Environmental change in peri-urban areas and human and ecosystem health," *Geography Compass* 2(4): 1095-1137.

Environmental and Energy Study Institute. 2015. "Issue Brief: White House Task Force on Climate Preparedness and Resilience Recommended Actions," April 3. http://www.eesi.org/papers/view/issue-brief-white-house-task-force-on-climatepreparedness-and-resilience-r

Farmer, Liz. 2013. "Cities that used natural disasters to revitalize their futures," *Governing the States and Localities*, August. < http://www.governing.com/topics/transportation-infrastructure/gov-cities-that-used-disasters-to-revitalize-their-futures.html>

Federal Emergency Management Agency. 2011a. *Local Disaster Recovery Managers Responsibilities.* Washington, D.C. September. < https://www.fema.gov/pdf/recoveryframework/local_disaster_recovery_managers.pdf>

Federal Emergency Management Agency. 2011b. *Health and Social Services Recovery Support Function*. Washington, D.C. September. https://www.fema.gov/pdf/recoveryframework/health_social_services_rsf.pdf

Federal Emergency Management Agency. 2015. *National Disaster Recovery Framework*. Washington D.C. http://www.fema.gov/national-disaster-recovery-framework

Federal Emergency Management Agency. 2008. *Emergency Support Function #8: Public Health and Medical Services Annex.* Washington D.C. https://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/20130726-1825-25045-8027/emergency_support_function_8_public_health___medical_services_annex_2008.pdf

Few, R. 2007. Health and climatic hazards: Framing response on vulnerability, response and adaptation, *Global Environmental Change* 17(2): 281-295.

Filitova, Tatania. 2014. "Market-based instruments for flood risk management: A review of theory, practice and perspectives for climate adaptation policy," *Environmental Science and Policy* 37: 227-242.

Fink, Sheri. 2016. "Can hospitals afford to be ready for disaster?" *New York Times*, February 14, SR 7.

Gotham, Kevin Fox and Richard Campanella. 2010. "Toward a research agenda on Transformative Resilience: Challenges and opportunities for post-trauma urban ecosystems," *Critical Planning*, Summer 9-23.

Harris, Patrick John and Fiona Haigh. 2015. "Including health in environmental impact assessments: Is an institutional approach useful for practice?" *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal* 33(2): 135-141.

Health Impact Project. 2015. Health Impact Assessment Legislation in the States: A Brief from the Health Impact Project. A collaboration of the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and the Pew Charitable Trusts, February. < http://www.pewtrusts.org/~/media/assets/2015/01/hia and legislation issue brief.pdf

Heller, Jonathan, Sara Satinsky, Jennifer Lucky and Becky Dennison. 2014. "Where health, planning, and community empowerment meet: A rapid Health Impact Assessment Model and its application in Los Angeles," Critical Planning 21: 65-81. <<u>http://escholarship.org/uc/item/2jv3x0px#page-17</u>.

Henry-Nickie, Makada, Haydar Kurban, Rodney D. Green and Janet A. Phoenix. 2008. "Leveling the playing field: Enabling Community-Based Organizations to Utilize Geographic Information Systems for Effective Advocacy," *Journal of Urban and Regional Information Systems Association* 20(2): 33-42. <

http://create.usc.edu/sites/default/files/publications/levelingtheplayingfieldenablingcommunity-basedorganizatio 0.pdf>

Horita, Flavio E. A, and Joao P. de Albuquerque. 2013. "An approach to support decisionmaking in Disaster management based on volunteer geographic information (VGI) and Spatial decision Support Systems (SDSS)," *Proceedings of the 10th International ISCRAM Conference*, Baden-Baden, Germany, (eds. T. Comes, F. Friedrich, S. Fortier, J. Geldermann and T. Muller). May 301-306. <

http://www.icmc.usp.br/~jporto/papers/ISCRAM_SDSS_DM.pdf>

Huggins, Thomas J., Robin Peace, Stephen R. Hill, David M. Johnston and Alicia Cuevas Muniz. 2015. "Politics of practical and academic knowledge: A Q-method analysis of gauging disaster resilience," *Journal of Contingencies and Crisis Management* 23(4): 246-256. < Huggins_et_al-2015-Journal-of.Contingencies-and-Crisis-Management.pdf>>

Hurricane Sandy Rebuilding Task Force. 2013. *Hurricane Sandy Rebuilding Strategy: Stronger Communities, A resilient region.* August.< http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/huddoc?id=hsrebuildingstrategy.pdf>

Indian River County. 2013. *Indian River County Post-Disaster Redevelopment Plan*. Vero Beach, Florida. http://www.irces.com/EM/PDRC/PDRP-2013.pdf

Institute of Medicine (IOM). 2015. *Healthy, resilient, and sustainable communities after disasters: Strategies, opportunities, and planning for recovery.* Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.

International Journal of Mass Emergencies and Disasters. 2012. Special Issue on Disaster Recovery. 30(2), 247pp. < http://www.ijmed.org/issues/30/2/>

Iowa Department of Homeland Security and Emergency Management. 2013. *Iowa Flood Mitigation Board: Annual Report for 2013.* http://www.homelandsecurity.iowa.gov/documents/misc/FLOOD_AnnualReport_2013.pdf.

Kutner, David M. 2015. In Deep: Helping Sandy-affected communities address vulnerability and confront risk. *New Jersey Future*. October. < http://www.njfuture.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/NJFuture-In-Deep-10-15-WEB.pdf>

Lakoff, Andrew. 2010. *Disaster and the politics of Intervention*. New York: Columbia University Press.

Langan, and Janice L. Palmer. 2014. "Listening to and learning from older adult hurricane Katrina survivors," *Public Health Nursing* 28(2); 126-135

Learmonth, Alyson and Sarah Curtis. 2013. "Place shaping to create health and wellbeing using health impact assessment: Health geography applied to develop evidence-based practice," *Health and Place* 24: 2-22.

Leckner, Marianna, Melanie McDermott, James K. Mitchell and Karen O'Neill. 2016. "Resilient climate adaptation at the local level: Heterogeneous experiences and policy mismatches after Super Storm Sandy," in *Taking Chances on the coast after Hurricane Sandy* (ed. By Karen O'Neill, Daniel Van Abs and Robert Grambling). New Brunswick: Rutgers University Press.

Lenhart, Amber. 2015. "National Perspective: HIA experiences and outcomes across the U.S.," *Health Impact Assessment in New Jersey: Building capacity to advance healthier decisions,*" Workshop, May 7. Rutgers University: Bloustein School of Planning and Public Policy. < http://phci.rutgers.edu/conference2015/>

Lindell, Michael K. 2013. "Recovery and Reconstruction after disaster," *Encyclopedia of Natural Hazards*. (P.T.Bobrowsky (Ed.), Berlin: Springer. Pp. 812-824

Martin, Carlos. 2015. "Lessons learned from the evaluation of HUD's post-Sandy Resilience Design Competition," *Natural Hazards Observer* 39(3): 4-13. < http://www.colorado.edu/hazards/o/archives/2015/jan15_observerweb.pdf>

Mitchell, James K. 2003. "The fox and the hedgehog: Myopia about homeland vulnerability in US policies on terrorism," *Terrorism and Disaster: New Threats, New Ideas - Research in Social Problems and Public Policy.* 11: 53-72.

Mitchell, James K. 2006. "The primacy of partnership: Scoping a new national disaster recovery policy," in "Shelter From The Storm: Repairing the national emergency management system after Katrina." Ed. William L. Waugh. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 604(1): 228-255.

Mitchell, James K. 2015a. "Governance of megacity disaster risks: Confronting the Contradictions," in *Risk governance: The articulation of hazard, politics and ecology*, ed. Urbano Fra, Springer. pp. 413-440.

Mitchell, James K. 2015b. "Health Impact Assessment and Natural Disaster Recovery," Unpublished report. Department of Geography, Rutgers University.

Mitchell, James K., Karen O'Neill, Melanie McDermott and Marianna Leckner. "Towards a transformative role of local knowledge in post-disaster recovery: Prospects for co-production in the wake of Hurricane Sandy." (in review)

New Jersey Department of Health and Senior Services. 2010. *Improving the health of New Jersey's Communities: A summary of the 2006-2008 County/City Community Health Improvement Plans: Final Report*, Trenton < http://www.state.nj.us/health/lh/documents/chip_report.pdf>

New Jersey Office of Emergency Management. 2014. *State of New Jersey 2014 State Hazard Mitigation Plan*. Trenton. < http://www.ready.nj.gov/programs/mitigation_plan2014.html>

National Research Council. 2011. *Improving health in the United States: The role of health impact assessment*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press. < <hr/>
<http://nap.edu/13229>

Natural Hazards Center. 2015. *40th Annual Natural Hazards Research and Applications Workshop*, Broomfield, Colorado, July 19-22 < http://www.colorado.edu/hazards/workshop/2015/speaker_index.html#m>.

Patton, Bob, Kelly Muellman and Michele Ross. 2012. *What's in your EAW?* Minnesota Department of Health, Climate and Health Program. St. Paul. <http://www.plannersconference.com/pdf/sessions2013/f1000_Whats%20in%20Your%2 0EAW.pdf>

Pew Charitable Trusts. 2015. *National Health Impact Assessment Meeting*, Washington, DC, June 16-18 < http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/collections/2015/06/2015-national-hia-meeting-agenda>

Philipps, Brenda A. 2009. *Disaster Recovery*. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida.

Picou, J. Steven. 2009. "Disaster recovery as Translational Applied Sociology: Transforming Chronic Community Distress," *Humboldt Journal of Social Relations* 32(1): 123-157 < <u>http://www.coastalresourcecenter.org/pdf/disaster-recovery-as-translational-applied-sociology.pdf</u>>

Pursell, Lisa and Noreen Kearns. 2013. "Impacts of an HIA on inter-agency and inter-sectoral partnerships and community participation: Lessons from a local level HIA in the Republic of Ireland," *Health Promotion International* 28(4): 522-532. < http://heapro.oxfordjournals.org/content/28/4/522.full>

Reis, S., G. Morris, L.E. Fleming, S. Beck, T. Taylor, M. White, M.H. Depledge, S. Steinie, C. E. Sabel, H. Cowie, F. Hurley, J. McP. Dick, R. I. Smith and M. Austen. 2015. "Integrating health and environmental impact analysis," *Public Health* 129(10): 1383-1389.

Schwab, J. C. Ed. 2014. *Planning for post-disaster recovery: Next Generation*. PAS Report 576. American Planning Association: Washington D.C. < https://www.planning.org/pas/reports/pdf/PAS_576.pdf> Sundnes, Knut Ole and Marvin L. Birnbaum. (Eds) 2003. "Health Disaster Management: Guidelines for Evaluation and Research in the "Utstein Style". Task Force on Quality Control of Disaster Management/ World Association for Disaster and Emergency Medicine (TFQCDM/WADEM). Chapter 3: "Overview and concepts." *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine*, Vol. 17 (Supplement 3):31–55.

Tate, Eric, Aaron Strong, Travis Kraus and Haoyi Xiong. 2016. "Flood recovery and property acquisition in Cedar Rapids, Iowa," *Natural Hazards* 80(3): 2055-2079.

U.S. Department of Agriculture. 2016. *Mississippi River Basin healthy Watersheds Initiative*. Natural Resource Conservation service. < http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detailfull/national/programs/initiatives/?cid =stelprdb1048200>

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2013. *Environmental Justice Implementation Progress Report.* Washington, D.C. p.8.< http://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/environmentaljustice/progress_2013.pdf>

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 2015a. *HHS Environmental Justice Program: Questions and Answers.* Washington, D.C. 2013. < http://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/environmentaljustice/ej-faqs-post-clearance.pdf>

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 2015b. *Recovery Workshop*, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Washington, D.C., March 3-4 < http://www.phe.gov/about/oem/recovery/hssrsf-workshop/Pages/default.aspx>

U.S. Department of Homeland Security. 2014. *Overview of the National Planning Frameworks.* Washington, D.C. http://www.fema.gov/media-library-data/1406718145199-838ef5bed6355171a1f2d934c25f8ad0/FINAL_Overview_of_National_Planning_Frameworks_20140729.pdf

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 2014. *Housing and Urban Development: Climate Change Adaptation Plan.* Washington, D.C. October http://portal.hud.gov/hudportal/documents/huddoc?id=HUD2014CCAdaptPlan.pdf

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 2016a. *Community Development Block Grant Disaster Recovery Program*. Washington, D.C. https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/cdbg-dr

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development. 2016b. *National Disaster Resilience Competition*. Washington, D.C. https://www.hudexchange.info/programs/cdbg-dr/resilient-recovery/

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2013. *A review of Health Impact Assessment in the U.S. : Current State-of-Science, Best Practices, and Areas for Improvement*. EPA/600/R-13/354. Washington, D.C. December. <<u>http://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-</u> 03/documents/review-hia.pdf>

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2015. *Health Impact Assessment & EnviroAtlas: Integrating Ecosystem Services into the Decision Making Process*. Office of Research and Development, National Health and Environmental Effects Research Laboratory, Research Triangle Park, NC. EPA/600/RR- 15/128.

http://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-08/documents/hia_guide_final_pdf.pdf

Walsh, Lauren, Hillary A. Craddock, Kandra Strauss-Riggs and Kenneth Schor. 2015. "Learning needs in disaster recovery: Perceptions of community health recovery after hurricanes Irene and Sandy," *Risks, Hazards and Crisis in Public Policy* 6(2): 145-163.

Washington State Department of Transportation. 2014. *INVEST Pilot Study: Infrastructure Voluntary Evaluation Sustainability Tool*, Olympia. Winter http://www.wsdot.wa.gov/NR/rdonlyres/3DA93461-B374-4795-9503-B094C8E5FFAF/0/FinalINVESTandAppendices.pdf

Watson, Maria et al. 2014. "Actors in disaster cycle, analysis of six recovery plans, and financial sources for post-disaster community recovery," *Plan 647 – Disaster Recovery and Hazard Mitigation*, Department of Landscape Architecture and Urban Planning, Texas A and M University. < http://hrrc.arch.tamu.edu/_common/documents/14-05R%20Recovery%20Process%20and%20Plans%20Final%202015.pdf>

Watson, Donald and Michele Adams. 2011. *Design for flooding: Architecture, Landscape, and urban design for resilience to flooding and climate change*. Hoboken: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.

Wells, Kenneth B., Benjamin J. Springgate, Elizabeth Lizaola, Felica Jones and Alonzo Plough. 2013. "Community engagement in disaster preparedness and recovery: A tale of two cities – Los Angeles and New Orleans," *Psychiatric Clinics of North America* 36(3); 451-466. < http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3780560/>

White House. 2014. *President's State, Local, and Tribal Leaders Task Force on Climate Preparedness and Resilience: Recommendations to the president* Washington, DC. < https://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/docs/task_force_report_0.pdf>

White House. 2015. "Fact Sheet: President Obama announces new investments to combat climate change and assist remote Alaskan communities." Office of the Press Secretary. Washington. D.C. September 2. < https://www.whitehouse.gov/the-press-office/2015/09/02/fact-sheet-president-obama-announces-new-investments-combat-climate>

World Health Organization. 2016. *Health Impact Assessment (HIA) – Short Guides*. http://www.who.int/hia/about/guides/en/ Zook, Matthew, Mark Graham, Taylor Shelton, and Sean Gorman. "Volunteered Geographic Information and Crowdsourcing Disaster Relief: A Case Study of the Haitian Earthquake." *World Medical & Health Policy* 2, no. 2 (2010): 6-32.

Appendix 1 Health Impact Assessment and Natural Disaster Recovery: A Literature Review¹⁸

James K. Mitchell

Preamble

This review focuses on scholarly and professional literature about the long-term effects of natural disasters on human health in the United States and on the roles that Health Impact Assessments (HIAs) play, or might play, during the long-term process of **recovery.** There is a growing global literature on HIAs as an aid to public decision-making for a wide range of purposes, but most HIA publications do not circulate widely outside the **health research community**. In particular there has been only limited communication with natural disaster researchers and managers whose policy guidance exerts a powerful effect on how society responses to those disruptions. Moreover, few of the extant publications on HIA mention anticipatory planning for future disasters and even fewer makes reference to disasters triggered by natural phenomena (i.e. floods, storms, droughts, earthquakes). Rapid assessments of immediate health effects, undertaken during the emergency phase of the disaster, and intended to assist emergency response and preparedness, dominate the literature. Goals of hazard mitigation, prevention, avoidance or reduction are rarely addressed. The number of publications about HIAs that focus on long-term recovery projects, proposed or begun in the wake of natural disasters, is very small. In view of burgeoning concerns about health effects of climate change and the increasing prevalence of natural disasters, (Kovats et al 2005; Patz et al 2008; Patz and Hatch 2013; Kim et al 2014) the paucity of disaster recovery HIAs and the low visibility of HIAs among disaster experts are deficiencies that warrant redress.

Organization

The review encompasses literature published since the 1990s. It is organized as follows. The health dimensions of natural disasters are first examined (I). HIAs are then defined, their evolution sketched in and various types of HIAs are identified (II). A continuing emphasis on short-term health impacts of disasters is noted in the third section (III). Trends in the development of HIAs are then briefly examined in the context of two larger processes: (a) a thrust towards integrated, holistic and comprehensive tools for the evaluation of multiple policy actions taken by large institutions (IV); and (b) the emergence of co-produced knowledge as an input to public policy making and management (V). Next comes a survey of the experience of undertaking HIAs, as reported by users and analyzed by researchers (VI). Finally, principal findings from the literature review are identified and commented upon as they pertain to the current Rutgers research project (VII).

¹⁸ Note: No attempt is made to review the voluminous literature of disaster recovery. Ways of integrating health considerations into post-disaster planning are addressed in the recent Institute of Medicine Report on "Healthy, Resilient, and Sustainable Communities after Disasters" (2015)

I: Evolving perspectives on human health in and after disasters

Health issues play an ambiguous role in disasters, especially natural ones. Given the threat that floods, storms, droughts, earthquakes and similar events pose to human lives it is not surprising that health concerns have often loomed large in the mass media and that health protection has been a high priority among governments and the organizations of civil society. (Center for Disaster Philanthropy 2015) However, **the salience of health issues in disaster policies and programs has been significantly diminished by competing public priorities.**

Long before the reduction of hazard-related deaths and injuries and other humanitarian concerns prompted action by the federal government, the primary drivers of U.S. hazard and disaster policies were desires to protect trade and facilitate land settlement by improving transportation facilities, enhancing communication and growing economic assets. These preferences are still in evidence today; it is telling that a recent review of the health effects of disasters highlighted the impact of catastrophic health emergencies on interstate *commerce* as a primary reason for seeking changes in federal policy. (Greenberger 2006) A persuasive case can be made that human health and security are still not dominant drivers of American hazard policy. For example, the protection of buildings, infrastructure and other investments in locations at risk (not people) is the leading goal of U.S. flood policies. Moreover, owners of homes and small businesses are the primary beneficiaries of the National Flood Insurance Program, not the poor tenants and homeless populations that are most vulnerable and most likely to be killed or injured by floods or inadequate attention to flood-related health impacts in their aftermath. Though per capita death rates from hurricanes, tornadoes, floods and most other natural disasters have fallen in the USA over the last century this has been accomplished largely as a result of mass warning and evacuation programs that do not significantly improve the health of evacuees, but simply move them to temporary safer locations.

Importantly, the legal and institutional means by which health improvement is included in U.S. national policies and programs do not generally rest on legislative mandates that are specific to health. Instead, eschewing the prioritization of health by means of high visibility health-centered laws, advocates of improved public health have preferred to embed health protection measures in existing institutional arrangements for other sectors of society (e.g. transportation, housing), where they might receive support from multiple diverse constituencies. (Blanchet 2013) Finally, at a time when the health of ecosystems and the health of economies are considered closely linked to human survival (Horwitz and Finlayson 2011), there has been a failure to integrate human health into the larger discourse of sustainable development that animates many important public policy deliberations - especially policies about hazard management and disaster response. (Winkler et al. 2013)

The low salience of health issues in national policies on disasters might be attributable to competing priorities among many different U.S. government departments and political interest groups but even the more **specialized health agencies have not given much weight to environmental disasters.** For example, in the *National Prevention Strategy*, a far-reaching statement on the nation's health improvement priorities, the emphasis is heavily on chronic threats that stem from modern lifestyles; (natural and technological) disasters are mentioned only once whereas obesity appears 116 times. (Surgeon General 2011) Likewise, in the influential National Research Council report *Improving Health in The United States: The role of Health Impact Assessment*, there is again a single mention of disasters with obesity appearing 38 times. (National Research Council 2011) Moreover, published research on the health dimensions of disasters has been meager with the bulk consisting of case studies of efforts to identify and measure prompt impacts. (Youssouf et al 2014; Fewtrell and Kay 2008b; Klein Rosenthal 2014; Paranjothy et al. 2011; Nataria et al. 2014) In light of these circumstances, it is fair to say that the salience of health as a topic relevant to studying, planning for and managing disasters is far less than it deserves to be.

But that situation is changing. There has lately been an upsurge of interest among researchers and public leaders in the relationship between extreme environmental events and human health, partly prompted by the ascent of climate change to a high priority on the national agenda. This has encouraged the development of pre-disaster preparedness assessments with a view to improving emergency management and encouraging adaptive "green" building and planning responses that complement efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. (Houghton 2011) However, most studies of climate and health focus on matters like heat stress, air quality mortality and morbidity, and water and vector-borne disease epidemics. (Kinney at al 2010) In other words they engage with health consequences of shifts in (macro-scale) means of temperature and precipitation rather than fluctuations of extreme (meso-scale) atmospheric phenomena like storms, floods and droughts. Yet, global shifts in temperature and precipitation regimes may trigger larger, more frequent, more intense storms or send them to parts of the world that were relatively untouched in the past, thereby precipitating disasters like Hurricane Katrina (2005) and Hurricane Sandy (2012) that many believe are harbingers of worse to come. Concern about climate risks has also been reinforced by worries about other kinds of sudden onset events, particularly terrorist attacks and accidents involving contamination by hazardous materials (e.g. Deepwater *Horizon* oil spill; Fukushima earthquake/tsunami/radioactivity crisis). Taken together these events have revealed the limitations of existing programs for the protection of people and property and therefore of human health.

Despite increasing concern about disasters in the *health research* community, health considerations have not figured prominently in the *disaster research* literature. This was recently noted by Gavin Smith, a leading scholar in the field of disaster recovery planning who has been closely associated with new recovery initiatives at the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (Smith 2015) Nor do health issues receive significant attention in flagship publications on disaster recovery theory and practice produced by other authors from a wide range of academic and professional disciplines (Smith 2011; *International Journal of Mass Emergencies and Disasters* 2012; Gall, Nguyen and Cutter 2015).

In summary, unprecedented storms and accidents have raised awareness of disasterrelated threats to health, fostering the fear that we may be transitioning to a world where more disasters will likely occur. Therefore there will be greater needs for recovery programs and projects, and the institutions of recovery will play a bigger role in **shaping communities**. This is already happening in Christchurch, New Zealand where a post-earthquake reconstruction agency has become the city's pre-eminent public institution, reshaping health policies and other institutional arrangements as well as the physical landscape. (Gawith 2012) Reflecting judgments about the onset of a riskier future, the Rand Corporation has also begun to explore the implications of disasters that leave some communities to fend for themselves in the immediate aftermath and others to face uncertain and protracted periods of recovery to a "new normal" that may be less secure than the *status quo ante*. (Chandra et al. 2011) With this as background let us now turn to consider publications about the research and management innovations know as Health Impact Assessments.

II. Health Impact Assessment

Health Impact Assessment (HIA) has been defined as: "a systematic process that uses an array of data sources and analytic methods, and considers inputs from stakeholders to determine the potential effects of a proposed policy, plan, program, or project on the health of a population and the distribution of those effects within the population. HIA provides recommendations on monitoring and managing those effects." (National Research Council 2011)

HIAs now follow a six step process that involves: (1) screening, (2) scoping, (3) assessment, (4) recommendations, (5) reporting, and (6) monitoring and evaluation. This process is sometimes embedded in a larger strategy known as "Health in all policies". (Nolen 2014; Gawith 2012) HIAs are comparatively recent innovations. They have been used in Europe and in many developing countries for approximately three decades but did not appear in the USA until 1999. (Fewtrell and Kay 2008a; Singleton-Baldrey 2012) There are now approximately 350 known HIAs, completed or ongoing, in the USA.

The main intellectual lineage of HIAs can be traced back to provisions of the U.S. National Environmental Policy Act (1969) that instituted Environmental Impact Assessments (EIAs) in advance of major actions contemplated by the federal government that might have undesirable environmental outcomes. (O'Mullane 2013, p. 17) Initially EIAs were intended to include impacts of proposed projects on human health but, throughout the world and in the USA, this component was largely overlooked in favor of documents that typically focus on actions that affect plants, animals and non-human ecological systems, particularly actions that involve the release of toxic materials. (Bhatia and Wernham 2008; Harris, Viliani and Spickett 2015) Some analysts have favored incorporating HIAs into EIAs because they would strengthen considerations of cumulative impacts and environmental justice but others argue that the results would introduce greater uncertainties and produce bulky documents while also burdening HIAs with the procedural and legal emphasis of EIAs. (Cole et al. 2004)

A second intellectual source of HIAs lies within the community of health researchers and practitioners that has progressively widened the definition of health to include social, economic and physical environmental factors that are conducive to human wellbeing. (Public Health Agency of Canada 2012; Georgia Tech Center for Quality Growth and Regional Development 2015) As reported by one set of authors: "The main changes (in HIAs) have been gradual moves from a biomedical to a socio-economic or environmental model of health; from consideration of toxic, infectious and other hazards to wider determinants of health, such as employment, transport and housing; and considering the health impacts not just of specific projects but also of broader programmes and policies. More recent resources (sic) are based on other HIA approaches, rather than being a direct development from EIA or policy appraisal" (Mindell, Boltong and Forde 2008) The growth of a "One Health" paradigm for the teaching of medicine as an integrated practice, that is strongly affected by contexts of place, time and society, has also begun to take hold. (Katz et al 2014; Zinsstag et al 2015) This shift provides fertile ground for undertaking disaster-related HIAs that integrate human health, ecological health and economic health. (Barrett and Osofsky 2014)

As reported by Morgan (2008): "There is no single, agreed, model of health impact assessment." He identified several different types that reflect: (1) how they balance the goals of health protection versus health promotion; (2) the degree to which they emphasize unanticipated health outcomes versus desired health outcomes; and (3) the decisionmaking level at which they are applied. The variability in perspectives and approaches that Morgan noted in 2008 is still visible today and it "..has contributed to problems in communication between practitioners, and affects the prospects for effective institutionalization of HIA." (see Section III below)

The link between a redefinition of health and the role of HIAs as an enabling procedure is clear from a recently published Institute of Medicine report (2015) that ties healthy people to healthy places: "A healthy community is one in which a diverse group of stakeholders collaborate to use their expertise and local knowledge to create a community that is socially and physically conducive to health. Community members are empowered and civically engaged, assuring that all local policies consider health. The community has the capacity to identify, address, and evaluate their own health concerns on an ongoing basis, using data to guide and benchmark efforts. As a result, a healthy community is safe, economically secure, and environmentally sound, as all residents have equal access to high quality educational and employment opportunities, transportation and housing options, prevention and healthcare services, and healthy food and physical activity opportunities." (p. ix) The parallels between this statement and the definition of HIAs (first paragraph of section II above) could not be clearer. Nor the desire to merge health, economic and environmental factors in a holistic strategy. In the words of one hazards expert: "Recovery is now linked to the concepts of resilience and community renewal, with social, economic, institutional, infrastructural, ecological and community dimensions." (Comerio 2014) Given the thoroughly place-based character of natural disasters and the emphasis on holistic recovery that is now prevalent among hazards experts, disasters come more appropriately than ever within the purview of health researchers and managers.

A full-fledged HIA would ideally be distinguished by its broad vision, long time perspective, and commitment to improving not just the health of individuals but also the environmental and societal arrangements that will encourage and sustain healthy lives in healthy places. A disaster recovery HIA would ideally function as a decision-support tool for guiding recovery strategies and specific recovery measures to a sustainably healthier future over periods of years to decades, as distinct from disaster relief actions intended to address immediate needs for survival.

III. Short-term bias of current HIAs

Some researchers have shown that disasters can have long-term health impacts (Erikson 1976; 1994; Kirmayer et al. 2010) but, historically, the health community's gaze has fallen elsewhere. When disaster health concerns have appeared on the public agenda, they have almost always been about short-term problems such as reducing traumatic deaths and injuries from sudden onset events and from disease epidemics that are feared by survivors because of unburied bodies, contaminated land and water, and compromised food supplies. (Pan American Health Organization 2000; World Health Organization 2012, 2013; Ratnapradipa et al 2012; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 2014) This encouraged researchers to emphasize the cataloging of prompt health impacts associated with sudden onset disasters and to stress the need for early intervention to guide crisis responses. (Carr et al 1996; Vilain et al 2015; Rosenkotter et al 2010; WHO 2013) These kinds of HIAs are the functional equivalent of damage assessments that focus on health. (Pew Charitable Trusts 2015)

For example, in 2007 the *European Journal of Public Health* published a series of short papers on European experiences with Health Impact Assessment of disasters. (Verger et al 2007a, 2007b, 2007c; Russell and Saunders 2007; Ruijten 2007) These surveyed experience in France, the United Kingdom and the Netherlands and focused heavily on technological accidents such as aircraft crashes, spills and explosions involving hazardous materials, as well as terrorist attacks. Findings emphasized rapid post-disaster monitoring, sampling and analysis of affected places as well as the speedy collection and public dissemination of scientific information during the immediate post-disaster stages of recovery. Best practices currently adopted or recommended included: a single source for authoritative information; an integrated mental health care program; and systematic use of HIAs to provide guidance about appropriate responses.

Also illustrative of the short-term approach, the Centers for Disaster Control and Prevention (CDC) are currently funding a series of pilot studies that are intended to help develop a systematic risk assessment procedure for the purpose of improving preparedness for a range of health problems that emerge in disasters. (CalPrepare 2015) CDC's concerns include: animal and insect bites, carbon monoxide leaks, mold, injuries sustained during cleanup of debris, contaminated food and water, power outages, and mental health traumas. (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2014) Of these only the last is likely to be a continuing problem that persists well into the recovery stage of disasters and beyond. Despite guidelines that favor a longer-term definition of disaster recovery needs (Florida Department of Economic opportunity and Florida Division of Emergency Management 2010) similar restricted health foci can be found in other disaster recovery planning documents (Florida Department of Economic Opportunity and Florida Division of Emergency Management 2012.)

Remedial measures undertaken in light of these immediate concerns generally leave

affected populations no healthier than before the disaster, nor are they better prepared to prevent, avoid or reduce the impacts of future threats. While this situation is most often encountered in poor developing countries, a preoccupation with immediate health effects of disasters is also common in the United States and other affluent countries. There, such disaster-related health assessments (Fewtrell 2011), are often accompanied by calls for improved emergency preparedness (Luband 2006). When long-term recovery is mentioned at all it is usually to express doubts about the ability of existing extended care programs to address the challenges posed by major disasters (Kinney 2006) and recommendations in support of a shift of policy emphasis towards addressing long-term impacts. (Hajat et al. 2003) Necessary as short-term responses might be, they do not constitute comprehensive solutions to worsening disasters.

Indeed it is the long run problems that are of greater concern to governmental and non-governmental organizations responsible for planning, administering and counseling the communities that survive disasters but live with the losses - and their significant social, economic, psychological, and other consequences - for decades to come; consequences that undermine the health of people, economies and ecosystems, thereby burdening the entire society, as well as nurturing the vulnerabilities that lead to future disasters. Disaster researchers, and organizations like federal and state agencies, the American Planning Association and the American Association of Retired Persons are prominent advocates of the shift to longer time perspectives. (American Association of Retired Persons 2014; Schwab 2014; New Jersey Department of Community Affairs 2013)

IV. Differentiation and integration in the evolution of HIAs

HIAs are now one component in an array of Impact Assessment techniques that has emerged to address the effects of different kinds of events and actions on people and environments. (Table 1) Not surprisingly, as types of assessment proliferate, so do calls for integration and the creation of unifying concepts and methods that permit engagement with larger and more complex problems. (British Medical Association 1998; Mahmoudi et al 2013) **Future efforts to develop disaster recovery HIAs will be affected by integrative impulses.**

The first generation of Impact Assessments focused on non-human environment effects of specific *projects* but these were later joined by *programmatic* Strategic Impact Assessments and then by a suite of specialized procedures that addressed Social, Health and Ecological Diversity impacts. More recently, Sustainability Assessments that seek to organize and integrate the various kinds of Assessment types have also appeared. (International Association for Impact Assessment 2009; Harris-Roxas and Harris 2011) While most Impact Assessments are intended to apply prospectively (i.e. in anticipation of potential impacts), confusion can arise when the term is applied to retrospective assessments (i.e. in the wake of a major impact) that might better be described as damage assessments. All types of Impact Assessments overlap with closely related tools like Risk Assessments, Vulnerability Assessments, Technology Assessments and Policy

Table 1: THE RANGE OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT TOOLS

ASSESSMENT TOOL

Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Social Impact Assessment (SIA) Sustainability Assessment Climate Impact Assessment Ecological Impact Assessment Cultural Heritage Impact Assessment Regulatory Impact Assessment Integrated Impact Assessment Health Impact Assessment (HIA) Health Equity Impact Assessment Sources: Mindell et al. 2003; Renda 2006; Public Health England 2007; Haber 2010; Mendell 2010; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2012; Pope et al 2013; World Bank 2011; Acharibasam and Noble 2014.

Assessments¹⁹; problem sets that require broader analytic perspectives. Among others these larger contexts are framed by concepts of Sustainable Development, Social Justice, Adaptive Governance and Holistic Recovery. Moreover, the analysis of society-environment interactions and futures forecasting is difficult because of constraints of complexity, uncertainty and ambiguity.

Integration of assessment concepts and methods across different disciplines and professions is an inherently problematic task that produces many terminological disputes and misunderstandings. (Hacking and Guthrie 2008) Nonetheless, **conceptual and methodological integration has proceeded apace, more so in other fields than the health sciences**. (Brouwer and van Ek 2004; Mahmoudi et al. 2013; Salcito et al. 2014; Negev et al. 2012) As Gall points out " ...the limited integration of the health sciences is contrasted by an increasing integration of physical, social and engineering sciences as measured by publications in disaster- and hazard-related journals."(Gall, Nguyen and Cutter 2015)

The thrust toward integration also has broad theoretical and practical implications, including some that favor the adoption of HIA techniques and some that pose special problems for disaster-related HIAs. Multicausality, maintenance of stakeholder participation after the crisis has passed and non-linearity of adaptive responses are among the problems that hamper adapting conventional HIAs to disaster contexts. (Briggs 2008) For this reason the entire suite of assessment techniques is increasingly adopting assumptions of "post-normal science" wherein uncertainty about the limits of scientific expertise is accepted and accommodated by procedures that give more weight to the knowledge and preferences of laypersons and other non-scientific experts. (Bond et al

¹⁹ A distinction is sometimes made between evaluations that are designed to determine whether policies are meeting their objectives (i.e. Policy Assessments) and assessments of unintended consequences or side effects in the application of policies (i.e. Impact Assessments). (European Centre for Health Policy 1999)

2015). The range of policy alternatives that are taken into consideration has also been greatly broadened. (Patz et al 2008)

V. Co-production of knowledge

In the past, scientific and professional experts controlled the supply of specialized knowledge that was used to develop and assess the hazards and disaster policy choices endorsed by public leaders. (Trainor and Subbio 2014) Lay citizens might be queried about the problems they faced or about their opinions of available responses but were not expected to offer credible alternatives. HIAs have been noteworthy for adopting a different approach that routinely democraticizes the decision-making process by marrying information from experts with inputs from local populations that are impacted by the development projects or programs that are being assessed. However, the pressure of unprecedented hazard events and the Information Revolution is redefining the roles of experts, laypersons and public leaders. On the one hand increasingly complex hazards may require increasingly specialized knowledge and expertise that are not readily comprehensible to laypersons, thereby creating barriers to effective public participation in decision making. (Negev 2012) On the other hand, it is also clear that, because of the Information Technology revolution, laypersons have greater access to the knowledge of experts than ever before and are also able to apply their own vernacular knowledge of local conditions and unique personal experiences to the mix. It is now increasingly evident that much knowledge about hazards and disasters is already, and will increasingly be, co-produced by experts and laypersons working in tandem. (Mitchell et al 2015) The implications for disaster recovery HIAs cannot be specified at this time but are likely to be profound. It is not inconceivable that future debates about how best to shape public policy may be characterized by a more equally balanced three-way dialog among public leaders, scientific experts and newly empowered lay publics rather than the expert-led perspectives of the past.

In light of both the pressures toward holistic thinking and changing roles in public decision-making, the evolution of HIAs is difficult to predict. Opportunities for applying them in the unexplored arena of disaster recovery require taking account of these trends and negotiating a productive way forward.

VI. Completed or Ongoing HIAs in the USA

Few HIAs have been conducted in the aftermath of recent natural disasters or are linked in other ways with recovery from earlier disasters. This is true for Canada as well as the United States. (Mendell 2010) Available disaster-related HIAs yield findings that are suggestive rather than definitive but the record is generally positive, indicating good potential for wider application of the HIA technique in disaster recovery contexts. Staffers of HIAs have also pointed out the need for more systematic attention to HIAs that assess projects intended to regulate or reduce natural hazards and disasters. For example, in a personal communication to this researcher, one of the principles in an HIA that assessed proposed waterfront developments along the shores of Lake Ontario (without given significant attention to flooding), was conscious of the importance of commissioning hazardrelated HIAs: "... for several years, I've been telling everyone who will listen that an HIA on floodplain regulations would be critical." (Korfmacher 2015; Korfmacher et al. 2015)

There are major opportunities for making use of HIAs in the aftermath of disasters. Since 1953 an annual average of 60 events have been designated disasters by the U.S. government and the long-term trend is towards more each year. For example, in 2011 there were 99 Major Disaster declarations, 29 Emergency declarations and 114 Fire management declarations – a total of 242 events. In addition many other events may not reach the level that warrants a Presidential Disaster Declaration but may nonetheless be locally catastrophic for limited numbers of people or specific societal functions or may add incrementally to the global burden of losses and environmental impairments. Not all disasters spur major projects or programs of recovery but most have prompted rebuilding and redevelopment actions that recreate the potential for future losses by replacing destroyed buildings and infrastructure without additional protection or adequate mitigation of existing risks, in the same vulnerable places.

Not surprisingly there have also been few evaluations of the experience and effectiveness of hazards and disaster-related HIAs to date. One exception is a recent Ph.D. dissertation that evaluated 54 HIAs to determine whether they used quantitative health risk-assessments and methods as well as the degree to which they affected public decisionmaking. (Singleton-Baldrey 2012) Natural hazards and/or disasters played some role in five (5) of the deliberations though recovery from disaster was not a reason for conducting any of the HIAs. Three HIAs made recommendations about disaster reduction measures that were eventually implemented by responsible authorities. These included: (1) creation of an emergency preparedness plan in Yellowstone County/Billings, Montana; (2) denial of a proposed use permit for a facility in Bernalillo County, New Mexico that the HIA judged would hinder emergency evacuation; and (3) use by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency of an alternative developed during the HIA to craft a stormwater discharge permit for a mining extension in Alaska. A fourth HIA included recommendations in favor of a health-focused general plan for Merced County, California that were turned down by county leaders: reduced emergency response times were one of the rejected plan's components. Hazard considerations played a different kind of role in the fifth HIA. It was judged to have been limited (but not necessarily invalidated) by lack of appropriate data about power disruptions caused by extreme weather. The data was necessary for the assessment of risks posed by automatic metering systems to elderly vulnerable populations served by the Commonwealth Edison Company (Illinois).

Reviewers of draft HIAs also mention omissions of hazards and disasters from inventories of health factors considered relevant, and limitations of hazard data for those that were addressed. For example, one reviewer of an HIA that involved an oil drilling project in Hermosa Beach, California questioned the omission of flooding, sea level rise, fire and extreme weather (including heat waves) as factors that could reasonably be expected to affect the area targeted for development. (Intrinsik 2014) In the HIA Scoping Workshop for a different project, in California's Coachella Valley, another reviewer pointed out the absence of hydraulic modeling and engineering data that would be pertinent to developments in the project's 100-year flood zone. (Coachella Association of Governments and Riverside County Department of Public health 2014) These kinds of omissions also occur in other HIAs without being recognized. For example, flooding and natural disasters are mentioned by stakeholders in the HIA of Hawaii County's Agricultural Development Plan but are not included in an analysis that restricts its interests in hazards to food borne illnesses and childhood obesity. (Kohala Center 2012)

The list of HIAs in the United States that is maintained by the Pew Charitable Trusts provides another source of data about disaster-related HIAs (Pew Charitable Trusts 2015) Of the 350 plus US-based HIAs on this inventory fewer than 20 are known to have significant connections with natural disaster risks or responses. (Table 2) These were initiated in ten different states within the last few years, so most are still in progress or have been completed so recently that evaluations of their outcomes are not yet available. For most, connections to the goal of alleviating natural hazards are peripheral rather than central to their main purposes. Likewise, the hazards involved tend to be chronic problems, having usually affected vulnerable populations over long periods without rising to the level of officially declared disasters. The natural hazards that are addressed cover a wide spectrum from hurricanes, heat waves, wildfires and droughts to slope failures and earthquakes, with floods and storms predominating. The societal sectors that receive most attention include housing, (water and energy) infrastructures, and forestry.

Despite the limitations of this database, follow up publications that are available for some projects are particularly deserving of scrutiny because the experiences and/or the lessons learned have broader relevance for efforts to develop disaster recovery HIAs.

The experience of researchers who employed HIAs as part of a larger "Health in all Policies" approach to post-hurricane redevelopment plans for Galveston, Texas is especially useful. (Nolen 2014) The following trenchant observations were made by one of the principles in this endeavor (here slightly modified for purposes of clarification).

- 1. Disaster recovery programs are often designed in ways that have negative impacts on health and health equity.
- 2. Disaster recovery involves so many players that it is difficult to include representation of all potential contributors in an HIA.
- 3. In the post-disaster emergency period numbers and confusion complicate the funding and execution of HIAs.
- 4. The main federal agency with responsibility for coordinating disaster response (FEMA) is less focused on problems of people than on buildings and infrastructure.
- 5. The post-disaster period brings visibility and investments in health improvement but introduces divisions that frustrate the creation of a unified community vision for recovery.

Table 2 HIAs with hazard/disaster connections

Goal Disaster recovery	Location Galveston, TX	Hazard/Disaster linkage Replacement of public housing	Status In progress
		destroyed by hurricane Ike	F 8
Disaster recovery	Little Egg Harbor, NJ	Scenarios for buyouts of properties affected by hurricane Sandy	In progress
Disaster recovery	Hoboken, NJ	Comprehensive storm water management plan in the wake of hurricane Sandy	In progress
Hazard mitigation	Cana Martin Pena, PR	Dredging and sewer projects in chronically flood prone area	Due May 2014
Hazard mitigation	Proctor Creek, Atlanta, GA	Green infrastructure project in chronically flood prone area	Due March 2014
Hazard mitigation	Cole Creek, Omaha, NE	Use of vacant lots created by erosion control and flood buyout projects	Due 2013
Hazard mitigation	Ann Arbor, MI	Urban forestry as an aid to reduction of high temperatures	In progress
Hazard mitigation	Delaware County, OH	Storm water runoff from new shopping mall	Due September 2014
Hazard mitigation	Marin County, CA	Housing code enforcement in area subject to poor drainage	Due 2012
Hazard mitigation	Rochester, NY	Changes in storm water management near lakefront	Due May 2013
Hazard mitigation	Chicago, IL	Potential for smart utility meters to cut power to vulnerable populations during periods of extreme heat or cold	Due April 2012
Hazard mitigation	Placer County, CA	Biomass energy facility promotion of healthy forest management for reduction of wildfire risks	Due 2012
Hazard mitigation	Greenville, WI	Ground water contamination from hazardous materials storage facility	Due October 2011
Hazard mitigation	Fitchburg, WI	Flood reduction in vicinity of a golf course	Due 2014
Disaster preparedness	Alameda, Contra Costa, Marin, San Francisco, and San Mateo Counties, & City of Berkeley, CA	Earthquake effects in San Francisco Bay area	
Hazard mitigation	State of California	Drinking water alternatives in drought affected areas	Due April 2016
Hazard mitigation	State of Kentucky	Clean energy alternatives in surface mined area chronically subject to slope failures and floods	Due 2012

These points underscore the difficulties of carrying out post-disaster HIAs and echo some of the conclusions from New Zealand after the disastrous earthquakes of 2010-12. There the earthquakes interrupted ongoing HIAs that focused on transportation, land use and health service planning, as well as health inequity problems experienced by Maoris and other minorities, but did not have strong hazard or disaster components. The quakes froze HIA capacity-building efforts largely because the organizations that carried out training lost their buildings and had to be relocated and re-provisioned elsewhere. But they also provided opportunities to put HIAs on the agenda of many organizations that were involved in reconstruction of the city. (Gawith 2012) It is widely believed that the Canterbury Earthquake Recovery Authority is now the body with most ability to affect health outcomes in the city for the foreseeable future.

An HIA carried out in Puerto Rico illustrates a significant difference of perspective between hazard researchers and health impact researchers. The HIA addressed a comprehensive plan proposed by public officials for revitalizing a polluted waterway near San Juan that had been subject to frequent floods that affected poor families who made their homes nearby. (Sheffield et al 2014) While the HIA made useful recommendations aimed at delivering improved health to vulnerable groups it did not challenge the central thrust of the official plan that relied on dredging and structural engineering approaches that have increasingly fallen out of favor among hazards researchers and managers. The HIA staff seem to have ignored available research on flooding in poor Puerto Rican communities elsewhere on the island that: (a) built a strong case for privileging other health concerns above flooding-related ones; (b) questioned the priority given to structural engineering projects as adequate solutions to flooding; and (c) placed a high premium on supporting the protective measures that were already being made by local residents. (Lopez-Marrero 2010; Lopez-Marrero and Yarnal 2010) This experience raises the question of whether HIAs can be constructed that are authentically independent of (and able to distance themselves from) the assumptions and worldviews of the sponsors of programs, projects and plans they are applied to? When researchers from one expert field (in this case health improvement) interact with another one (here, disaster management) it is unlikely that they are aware of important theoretical, methodological and ideological issues that subdivide practitioners in that field. This underscores the importance of designing disaster recovery HIAs in close collaboration with a range of experts from the hazards/disaster community.

A final example of a disaster-related HIA shows some of the strengths of the process and its potential for successful application. Proctor's Creek is a small stream in metropolitan Atlanta that has a chronic problem with flooding from storm runoff that cannot be accommodated by the existing city sewer system. In framing the HIA the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency took a broad view of health and embraced the HIA as a regulatory assistance tool in support of its permitting process. The Agency visualized a chain of consequences triggered by floods that linked them, in turn, to property vacancy or abandonment, neighborhood dereliction, declines in mental health and loss of social capital necessary to sustain the wider community. They looked beyond conventional flood management alternatives to include Green infrastructure and innovative storm water management alternatives, thereby recognizing an overlap between ecosystem health and human health. They also examined pressures on jobs and businesses, seeking to address the economic correlates of health. Finally, while acknowledging the merits of the proposed project on Proctor's Creek the HIA recommended adoption of similar measures throughout the entire watershed of Atlanta. The conceptual breadth of this HIA and its integrating into the formal decision making process of an established regulatory agency are among its formidable strengths. The outcome is as yet unknown.

VI: Findings for the literature - Reflections and Recommendations

- 1. **Partnership**: The use of HIAs to evaluate disaster recovery projects provides a potentially valuable new tool that could bring mutual benefits to health interest groups and disaster management ones. For this to occur, a better-balanced partnership between these two communities of experts should exist. At the moment the impetus for developing HIAs comes mainly from the health community; it needs to be better publicized among, and supported by, the disaster community. Most importantly, the two groups of experts should develop a closer working relationship.
- 2. **Agency**: Lay publics are consulted in the HIA process, and it is quite likely that their contributions to planning and managing hazards will become more important is subsequent decades as new information technologies expand access to specialized knowledge and provide laypersons with the ability to insert personalized local knowledge into the decision-making process. Given the centrality of public participation to the HIA process it might require adaptation to take account of these changes.
- 3. **Goals**: At present health equity issues that affect vulnerable populations are the leading point of entry for the conduct of HIAs. While various kinds of inequity are also important considerations for disaster policy-making they are by no means the only animating issues. Among others are the following: how to strike a balance between present safety and future sustainability goals; pressures to change the division of public/private and collective/individual responsibilities for funding and executing hazard management measures; controversies about structural versus non-structural technologies that impose different burdens on societies and environments; lack of a permanent public constituency in support of hazard reduction except at times of crisis; the emergence of new kinds of risks that raise unforeseen problems etc. If HIAs are to be attractive instruments for hazards managers it may be necessary to bring a wider range of motivating issues into their purview.
- 4. **Planning time horizon**: A commitment to using disaster recovery-related HIAs to identify impacts that can be reduced by improved (pre-disaster) preparedness, as well as emergency management and short-term (post-disaster) relief interventions, is already well established among some health research and management organizations (e.g. CDC). It may require considerable effort to expand this perspective to include long term hazard mitigation, prevention and avoidance measures that may take years to decades to become fully effective but offer more or less permanent solutions rather than temporary band aids.
- 5. **Institutional framework**: There is presently a strong drive to use existing strategies for national preparedness, recovery, mitigation and prevention to provide the master templates for disaster health initiatives, especially HIAs. Inserting disaster recovery HIAs into this framework runs the risk of reifying existing agency information silos

and reproducing bureaucratic concerns about the distribution of authority and funding that work against the adoption of optimal health improvement strategies. In designing disaster-recovery HIAs thought might be given to emphasizing the crosscutting value of HIAs and the bottom-up perspectives that they encourage in the planning and decision-making process.

6. **Integration**: Although the health research and management community has begun to employ broader conceptions of health and health improvement, HIAs seem to be lagging in recognition of this change. It will be difficult to achieve improved human health without also buttressing the health of economic systems and ecosystems. Can disaster-recovery HIAs be modified to assist this transformation in outlooks and actions?

REFERENCES

Acharibasam, J. B., and Noble, B. F. 2014. "Assessing the impact of strategic environmental assessment," *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal* 32(3); 177-187.

American Association of Retired Persons. 2014. "Long-term Services and Supports" Chapter 8, and "Liveable Communities" Chapter 9 in *The Policy Book: AARP Public Policies 2013-2014*. < http://policybook.aarp.org>

Barrett, M. A. and Osofsky, S.A. 2014. "One health: Interdependence of people, other species, and the planet," Chapter 9 in Katz et al. 2014. (below). < http://hss.ucsf.edu/PDF/article-OneHealthChapter_JekelEpi&PublicHealth_Barrett&Osofsky.pdf>

Bhatia, R. and Wernham, A. 2008. "Integrating human health into Environmental Impact Assessment: An unrealized opportunity for environmental health and justice," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 116(8): 991-1000.

Blanchet, S. 2013. "HIA 2012," 12th International Conference on Health Impact Assessment (HIA). Quebec: Government of Quebec, Ministry of Health and Social Services. http://www.hia2012.ca/docs/EIS2012_ResumeEN.pdf

Bond, A., Morrison-Saunders, A., Gunn, J.A.E., Pope, J. and Retief, F. 2015. "Managing uncertainty, ambiguity and ignorance in impact assessment by embedding evolutionary resilience, participatory modeling and adaptive management," *Journal of Environmental Management* 151: 97-104.

Briggs, D.J. 2008."A framework for integrated environmental health impact assessment of systemic risks," *Environmental Health* 7:61. http://www.ehjournal.net/content/7/1/61

British Medical Association. 1998. Health and Environmental Impact assessment: An integrated approach. London: Earthscan.

Brouwer, R., and van Ek, R. 2004. "Integrated ecological, economic and social impact assessment of alternative flood control policies in the Netherlands," *Ecological Economics* 50(1/2): 1-21.

Cal Prepare. 2015. All-hazards vulnerability, risk, and Health Impact Assessment Study. Preparedness and Emergency Response Research Center (PERRC). http://calprepare.com/sfbaimpact

Carr, S. J., Leahy, S. M., London, S., Sidhu, S., and Vogt, J. 1996. "The public health response to Los Angeles' 1994 earthquake," *American Journal of Public Health 86(4): 589-590.*

Center for Disaster Philanthropy. 2015. "The impact of disasters on public health," < http://disasterphilanthropy.org/the-impact-of-disasters-on-public-health/>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2012. "The different types of Health Assessments". Atlanta. <http://www.cdc.gov/healthyplaces/types_health_assessments.htm>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2014. "Health and safety concerns for all disasters" < http://emergency.cdc.gov/disasters/alldisasters.asp>

Chandra, A., Acosta, J., Stern, S., Uscher-Pines, L., Williams, M. V., Yeung, D., Garnett, J. and Meredith, L.S. 2011. Building community resilience to disasters: A way forward to enhance national health security. Technical Report. Sponsored by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Santa Monica: Rand Corporation

City of Fitchburg, WI. 2014. Nine Springs Golf Course – Potential Park Use Option Master Plan. Health Impact Assessment. https://www.publichealthmdc.com/publications/documents/FitchburgAppendix.pdf

Climate Change Public Health Impacts Assessment and Response Collaborative. 2007. Public Health Impacts of Climate Change in California: Community Vulnerability Assessments and Adaptation Strategies. California Department of Public Health. Sacramento.

http://www.ehib.org/papers/Heat_Vulnerability_2007.pdfhttp://www.ehib.org/papers/He at_Vulnerability_2007.pdf

Coachella Association of Governments and Riverside County Department of Public health. 2014. Coachella Valley link Health Impact Assessment Community Scoping Workshop. <http://www.cvag.org/library/pdf_files/comres/CV_Link_HIA_Flyers/CVAG%20-%20CV%20Link%20HIA%20Fall%202014%20Workshop%20Summary%20and%20Appe ndix.pdf>

Cole, B. L., Wilhelm, M., Long, P. V., Fielding, J. E., Kominski, G., and Morgenstern, H. "Prospects for Health Impact Assessment in the United States: New and Improved Environmental Impact Assessment or Something Different?," *Journal of Health Politics, Policy and Law* 29, 1153–1186 (2004).

Comerio, M.C. 2014. "Disaster recovery and community renewal – Housing approaches," *Cityscape: A Journal of Policy development and Research* 16(2): 51-68. < http://www.huduser.org/portal/periodicals/cityscpe/vol16num2/ch3.pdf>

Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists (CSTE) and State Environmental Health Indicators Collaborative Climate Change Subcommittee. 2013. Developing Climate Change Environmental Public Health Indicators: Guidance for Local Health Departments.

Douglas County Health Department. 2013. Cole Creek Health Impact Assessment: Supplemental Information. October. http://www.douglascountyne.gov/health/images/stories/Healthy%20Community/Cole%20Creek%20HIA%20Appen dices.pdf Erikson, K. 1976. Everything in its path: Destruction of community in the Buffalo Creek flood. New York: Simon and Schuster.

Erikson, K. 1994. A new species of trouble: Explorations in disaster, trauma and community. New York: W.W. Norton and Company.

European Centre for Health Policy. 1999. Health Impact Assessment: Main Concepts and Suggested Approach. The Gothenburg Consensus Paper. World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. Brussels.

Fewtrell, L. 2011. "Carlisle flooding: Health Impact Assessment". Aberstwyth University. Unpublished paper.

http://www.ecrr.org/Portals/27/Publications/Carlisle2005%20FloodHealthImpactAssess ment.pdf

Fewtrell, L. and Kay, D. Eds. 2008a. Health impact assessment for sustainable water management. London: IWA Publishing.

Florida Department of Economic Opportunity and Florida Division of Emergency Management. 2010. Post-disaster redevelopment planning: A guide for Florida Communities. http://www.floridadisaster.org/recovery/documents/Post%20Disaster%20Redevelopmen t%20Planning%20Guidebook%20Lo.pdf

Fewtrell, L. and Kay, D. 2008b. "An attempt to quantify the health impacts of flooding in the UK using an urban case study," *Public Health* 122(5): 446-451.

Florida Department of Economic Opportunity and Florida Division of Emergency Management. 2012. Post-disaster redevelopment planning: Addressing adaptation during long-term recovery.

http://www.floridajobs.org/fdcp/dcp/PDRP/Files/PDRPSeaLeveRiseAddendum.pdf

Gall, M., Nguyen, K. and Cutter, S. L. 2015. "Integrated research on disaster risk: Is it really integrated?" *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction* (article in press). http://www.researchgate.net/publication/272028535_Integrated_research_on_disaster_risk_Is_it_really_integrated>

Gawith, L. 2012. Final evaluation report for Canterbury Health in All Policies Partnership (CHIAPP). 2evaluate Ltd. http://www.cph.co.nz/Files/CHIAPPFinalEvaluation-Jun12.pdf

Georgia Tech Center for Quality Growth and Regional Development. 2015. *History of Healthy Places and Impact Assessment*. Georgia Tech. Atlanta. http://www.cqgrd.gatech.edu/research/healthy-places-impact-assessment/history

Greenberger, M. 2006. "Alfonse and Gaston of governmental response to national public health emergencies: lessons learned from Hurricane Katrina for the federal government and the states," *Administrative Law Review* 58: 611-626.

Haber, R. 2010. Health Equity Impact Assessment: A Primer. Toronto: The Wellesley Institute < http://www.wellesleyinstitute.com/wp-content/uploads/2011/02/Health_Equity_Impact_Assessment_Haber.pdf.

Hacking, T. and Guthrie, P. 2008. "A framework for clarifying the meaning of Triple Botton-Line, Integrated, and Sustainability Assessment," *Environmental Impact Assessment Review* 28(2/3): 73-89.

Hajat, S., Ebi, K.L. and Kovats, R.S. 2005. "The human health consequences of flooding in Europe: A review," in: Kirch, W., Menne, B., and Bertollini, R. Eds. Extreme weather events and public health responses. Berlin: Springer.

Harris, P., Viliani, F. and Spickett, J. 2015. "Assessing health impacts within Environmental Impact Assessments: An opportunity for public health globally which not remain missed," *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health* 12(1): 1044-1049.

Harris-Roxas, B. and Harris, E. 2014. "Differing forms, differing purposes: A typology of health impact assessment," *Environmental Impact Assessment Review* 31(4): 396-403.

Houghton, A. 2011. "Health Impact Assessments: A tool for designing climate change resilience into green building and planning projects," *Journal of Green Building* 6(2): 66-87.

Horitz, P. and Finlayson, C. M. 2011. "Wetlands as settings for human health: Incorporating ecosystem services and health impact assessment into water resource management," *BioScience* 61(9): 678-688.

Human Impact Partners and Legal Aid of Marin. 2012. Marin Healthy Homes Project: A Health Impact Assessment. July.

<http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/~/media/Assets/External-Sites/Health-Impact-Project/healthy_homes_hia_compressed.pdf>

Institute of Medicine. 2015. Healthy, Resilient, and Sustainable Communities after Disasters: Strategies, Opportunities, and Planning for Recovery. Committee on post-disaster recovery of a community's public health, medical, and social services, Board on Health Sciences Policy, Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press. < http://www.nap.edu/download.php?record_id=18996.>

International Association for Impact Assessment. 2009. "What is Impact Assessment?" Fargo. https://www.iaia.org/publicdocuments/special-publications/What%20is%20IA_web.pdf *International Journal of Mass Emergencies and Disasters.* 2012. Special issue on "The Theory of Disaster Recovery" 30(2): 248 pages.

Intrinsik. 2014. Final Health Impact Assessment E&B Oil Drilling and Production Project. Venice, CA. http://www.hermosabch.org/modules/showdocument.aspx?documentid=4634

Katz, D.L., Wild, D., Elmore, J.G. and Lucan, S.C. 2014. Jekel's Epidemiology, Biostatiostics, Preventive Medicine and Public Health. Philadelphia: Saunders.

Kim, K-H., Kabir, E., Ara Jahan, S. 2014. "A review of the consequences of global climate change on human health," *Journal of Environmental Science and Health* (Part C) – Environmental Carcinogenesis and Ecotoxicology Reviews 32(3): 299-318.

Kinney, P.L., Shindell, D., Chae, E. and Winston, B. 2010. Climate change and public health: Impact assessment for the NYC metropolitan region. : Rosenzweig C, Solecki W, editors. Climate Change and a Global City: An Assessment of the Metropolitan East Coast Region. New York, NY: Columbia Earth Institute; 2001< http://metroeast_climate.ciesin.columbia.edu/reports/health.pdf>

Kinney, E. 2006. "Can the Medicare, Medicaid, and SCHIP programs meet the challenges of public health emergencies?" *Administrative Law Review* 58: 559-573.

Kirmayer, L.J., Kienzler, H., Afgana, A.H. and Pedersen, D. 2010. "Trauna and disasters in social and cultural context," in Principles of Social Psychiatry (2nd edition), Ed. By Morgan, C. and Bhugra, D. New York: John Wiley and Sons, Ltd.: 155-177.

Klein Rosenthal, J., Kinney, P.L., and Metzger, K.B. 2014. "Intra-urban vulnerability to heatrelated mortality in New York city, 1997-2006," *Health and Place* 30: 45-60.

Kohala Center. 2012. Health Impact Assessment – 2010 Hawai'I County Agricultural Development Plan. Kamuela, Hawaii. <http://kohalacenter.org/pdf/HIAFullReportFinalWeb.pdf>

Korfmacher, K. S., Aviles, K., Cummings, B.J., Daniell, W., Edrmann, J. and Garrison, V. 2014. "Health Impact Assessment of Urban Waterway decisions," *International Journal of Environmental Research on Public Health* 12(1): 300-321.

Korfmacher, K. S. 2015. Personal communication to James K. Mirthell, March 2015.

Kovats, R.S., Campbell-Lendrum, D. and Matthies, F. 2005. "Climate change and human health: Estimating avoidable deaths and disease," *Risk Analysis* 25(6): 1409-1418.

Lawrence, D. P. Ed. 2013. Impact Assessment: Practical Solutions to Recurrent Problems and Contemporary Challenges, Second Edition. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

López-Marrero, T. 2010. An Integrative Approach to Study and Promote Natural Hazards Adaptive Capacity. *The Geographical Journal* 176(2):150-163.

López-Marrero, T. and B. Yarnal. 2010. Putting Adaptive Capacity into the Context of People's Lives: A Case Study of Two Flood-Prone Communities in Puerto Rico. *Natural Hazards* 52:277-297.

Luband, C. 2006. "Emergency preparedness for hospitals and the healthcare marketplace," *Administrative Law Review* 58: 575-586.

Mahmoudi, H., Renn, O. Vanclay, F., Hoffmann, V., and Karami, E. 2013. "A framework for combining social impact assessment and risk assessment," *Environmental Impact Assessment Review* 43:1-8.

Mendell, A. 2010. Four types of impact assessment used in Canada: Comparative Table. Ottawa. National Collaborating Centre for Health Public Policy. < http://www.ncchpp.ca/docs/EvaluationImpactComparisonEN.pdf>

Michigan Department of Community Health. 2014. "Expanding Urban Tree Canopy as a Community Health Climate Adaptation Strategy: A Health Impact Assessment of the Ann Arbor Urban and Community Forest Management Plan. Prepared for the City of Ann Arbor. January 1. <

https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mdch/Final_January_2014_HIA_446372_7.pdf>

Mindell, J.S., Boltong, A. and Forde, I. 2008. A review of health impact assessment frameworks," *Public Health* 122(11): 1177-1187.

Mindell, J., Ison, E. and Joffe, M. 2003 "A glossary of health impact assessment," *Journal of Epidemiological and Community Health* 57 (9): 647-651.

Mitchell, J. K., O'Neill, K., McDermott, M. and Leckner, M. 2015 "Towards a transformative role for local knowledge in post-disaster recovery: Prospects for co-production in the wake of Hurricane Sandy," In preparation.

Nataria, J., Matthews, K.A. and Myers, H.F. 2014. "Conceptualizing health consequences of hurricane Katrina from the perspective of socioeconomic status decline," *Health Psychology* 33(2): 139-146.

National Prevention Council. 2011. National Prevention Strategy. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the U.S. Surgeon General.< http://www.surgeongeneral.gov/initiatives/prevention/strategy/report.pdf

National Research Council. 2011. Improving health in the United States: The role of Health Impact Assessment. Committee on Health Impact Assessment. Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press. <

http://www.iom.edu/~/media/Files/Activity%20Files/Environment/EnvironmentalHealt hRT/2011-Nov-RT/132291.pdf> Negev, M. 2012. "Knowledge, data and interests: Challenges in participation of diverse stakeholders in HIA," *Environmental Impact Assessment Review* 33: 48-54.

Negev, M., Levine, H., Davidovitch, N., Bhatia, R., and Mindell, J. 2012. "Integration of health and environment through health impact assessment: Cases from three continents," *Environmental Research* 114: 60-67.

New Jersey Department of Community Affairs. 2013. Community Development Block Grant Disaster Recovery Action Plan. < http://www.state.nj.us/dca/announcements/pdf/CDBG-DisasterRecoveryActionPlan.pdf>

Nolen, LB; Prochaska, J; Rushing, M; Fuller, E; Dills, J; Buschmann, R; Miller, C; Tarlekar, S; Avey, H; Ruel, E; Oakley, D. 2014. "Improving Health through Housing and Neighborhood Development in Galveston, Texas: Use of Health Impact Assessment to Develop Planning Tools and Coordinated Community Action." Center to Eliminate Health Disparities at the University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, Texas: www.utmb.edu/cehd. < http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/~/media/Assets/External-Sites/Health-Impact-Project/GalvestonHIAFinalSummaryReport1>

Nolen, A. 2014. "A Health in All Policies Approach to Disaster recovery: Lessons from Galveston," Institute of Medicine Committee on Post-disaster recovery of a Community's Public Health, Medical and Social Services. Center to Eliminate Health Disparities, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston. <

http://www.iom.edu/~/media/Files/Activity%20Files/PublicHealth/CommunityLongTer m%20Recovery/Meeting%204/Nolen%20Lexi%2061314.pdf>

O'Mullane, M. Ed. 2013. Integrating health impact assessment with the policy process. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Omaha By Design. 2012. The Cole Creek project. 2012. < http://www.omahabydesign.org/projects/urban-design-element/green-omaha/the-colecreek-project/>

Outagamie County Public Health Division. 2011. Neenah-Menasha Sewerage Commission, Biosolids Storage Facility, Greenville, WI: Rapid Health Impact Assessment. October. http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/~/media/Assets/External-Sites/Health-Impact-Project/NeenahMenashaBiosolidsStorageFacilityHIA.pdf

Pan American Health Organization. 2000. Natural Disasters: Protecting the Public's Health. Scientific Publication 575. Washington, D.C. < http://www.preventionweb.net/files/1913_VL206114.pdf>

Paranjothy, S., Gallacher, J. Amlot, R., Rubin, G.J., Page, L., Baxter, T., Wight, J., Kirrage, D., McNaught, R. and Palmer, S.R. 2011. *BMC Public Health* 11:145. < http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2458/11/145>

Patz, J.A. and Hatch, M.J. 2013. "Public health and global climate disruption," *Public Health Reviews* 35(1): 1-23.

Patz, J., Campbell-Lendrum, D., Gibbs, H., and Woodruff, R. 2008. "Health Impact Assessment of Global Climate Change: Expanding on comparative risk assessment approaches for policy making," *Annual Review of Public Health* 29:27-39.

Pew Charitable Trusts. 2015. HIA in the United States. < http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/multimedia/data-visualizations/2014/hia-in-the-united-states>

Pope, J., Bond, A., Morrison-Saunders, A., and Retief, F. 2013. "Advancing theory and practice of impact assessment: Setting the Research Agenda," *Environmental Impact Review* 41: 1-9.

Public Health Agency of Canada.2012. "What is the population health approach?" Ottawa. < http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/ph-sp/approach-approche/index-eng.php>

Public Health England. 2007. Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA). HIA Gateway, Association of Public Health Observatories. < http://www.apho.org.uk/resource/view.aspx?RID=48174>

Ratnapradipa, D., Conder, J., Ruffing, A. and White, V. 2012. "The 2011 Japanese earthquake: An overview of environmental health impacts," *Journal of Environmental Health* 74(6): 42-50.

Renda, A. 2006. Impact Assessment in the EU: The State of the Art and the Art of the State. Brussels: Centre for European Policy Studies. < http://ceps.be/files/book/1291.pdf>

Rosenkötter N, Ziemann A, Garcia-Castrillo Riesgo L, Vergeiner G, Fischer M, Krafft T, Brand, H., Lippert F, Krämer A, Pinheiro, P. 2010. Regional public health impact of volcanic ash cloud covering Europe after eruption of Eyjafjallajoekull, Iceland starting April 14th, 2010. Results as of May 15th, 2010." Bad Honnef. Available at:

http://ec.europa.eu/chafea/documents/health/SIDARTHa_rapid_assessment_volcanic_ash_ cloud_15MAY2010.pdf

Ruijten M. 2007. "The Dutch experience with Health Impact Assessment of disasters," *European Journal of Public Health* 17(1): 5-6.

Russell, D. and Saunders, P. 2007. "The UK experience with Health Impact Assessment of disasters," *European Journal of Public Health* 17(1):4-5.

Salcito, K., Singer, B.H., Krieger, G.R., Weiss, M.G., Wielga, M. and Utzinger, J. 2014. "Assessing corporate project impacts in changeable contexts: A human rights perspective," *Environmental Impact Assessment Review* 47: 36-46.

Sandel, M., Suther, E., Munschi, K., Snyder, L. and Alexander, B. 2012. "The Health Impact Assessment of the Commonwealth Edison (ComEd) Advanced Metering Infrastructure (AMI) Deployment."<

http://www.citizensutilityboard.org/pdfs/NewsReleases/20120423_HIAFinalReport.pdf>

Schwab, J. C. Ed. 2014. *Planning for post-disaster recovery: Next Generation*. PAS Report 576. American Planning Association: Washington D.C. < https://www.planning.org/pas/reports/pdf/PAS_576.pdf>

Sequoia Foundation. 2013. A health Impact Assessment of the proposed Cabin Creek Biomass Energy Facility in Placer County, California. Tacoma, WA. http://www.placer.ca.gov/~/media/cdr/Planning/Biomass/Reports/HIAReport.ashx

Sheffield, P., Rowe, M., Agu, D, Rodriguez, L. and Aviles, K. 2014. "Health Impact Assessments for Environmental Restoration: The case of Cano Martin Pena," *Annals of Global Health* 80(4): 296-302. http://www.annalsofglobalhealth.org/article/S2214-9996(14)00077-0/fulltext

Singleton-Baldrey, L. 2012. "The Impacts of Health Impact Assessment: A review of 54 health impact assessments, 2007-2012". Ph.D. Dissertation, University of North Carolina. Chapel Hill.

Smith, G. 2015. Audio-visual presentation at ASPR Workshop on Pre/Post-Disaster Recovery Planning, March 3-5, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, D.C.

Smith, G. 2011. Planning for post-disaster recovery: A review of the United States Disaster Assistance Framework. Fairfax, VA: Public Entity Risk Institute.

Stanke C, Murray V, Amlôt R, Nurse J, Williams R. 2012. The Effects of Flooding on Mental Health: Outcomes and Recommendations from a Review of the Literature. PLOS Currents Disasters. May 30 . Edition 1.

Trainor, J. and Subbio, T. 2014. Critical issues in disaster science and management: A dialogue between researchers and practitioners. E-Book, U.S. Federal Emergency Management Agency. https://www.hsdl.org/?view&did=759234

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2014. National Disaster Medical System. < http://www.phe.gov/Preparedness/responders/ndms/Pages/default.aspx>

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (Region 4): 2014. Health Impact Assessment (HIA) of Proctor Creek's Boone Boulevard Green Street in Atlanta, Ga," National Prevention Strategy HIA Case Study.

http://nnphi.org/CMSuploads/EPA%20Region%204%20Case%20Study%20FINAL.pdf

Verger, P., Ruijten, M., Russell, D., Saunders, P. and Lang, T. 2006. "Better planning for health impact assessment of disasters," *European Journal of Public Health* 17(1): 3-7.

Verger, P., Ruijten, M., Russell, D. and Lang, T. 2006. "Recommendations to improve postdisaster HIA: Planning before the disaster," *European Journal of Public Health* 17(1): 6-7.

Verger, P., Aulagnier, M., Schwoebel, and Lang, T. 2007. "French experiences with Health Impact assessment of disasters," *European Journal of Public Health* 17(1): 3-4.

Vilain P, Pagès F, Combes X, Marianne Dit Cassou PJ, Mougin-Damour K, Jacques-Antoine Y, Filleul L. 2015. "Health impact assessment of cyclone Bejisa in Reunion island (France) using syndromic surveillance." *Prehospital and Disaster Medicine* 30(2): 137-44.

Walker, E. and Payne, D. 2012. Health Impact Assessment of coal and clean energy options in Kentucky. Berea: Kentucky Environmental Foundation. http://www.pewtrusts.org/en/~/media/Assets/External-Sites/Health-Impact-Project/CoalandCleanEnergyOptionsinKY.pdf

Winkler, M.S., Krieger, G. R., Divali, M.J., Cisse, G., Wielga, M., Singer, B. H., Tanner, M. and Utzinger, J. 2013. "Untapped potential of health impact assessment," *Bulletin of the World Health Organization* 91(4): 298-305.

World Bank. 2011. Analyzing the social impact of disasters (2 volumes). Global Facility for Disaster Reduction and Recovery. Washington, D.C. < http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTEAPREGTOPSOCDEV/Resources/PostDisasterocial AnalysisToolsVolumeI.pdf> and <

http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTEAPREGTOPSOCDEV/Resources/PostDisasterSocia lAnalysisToolsVolumeII.pdf>

World Health Organization. 2013. Health risk assessment from the nuclear accident after the 2011 Great East Japan Earthquake and Tsunami based on a preliminary dose estimation. Geneva.

http://www.who.int/ionizing_radiation/pub_meet/fukushima_risk_assessment_2013/en/

World Health Organization Regional Office for the Western Pacific, 2012. *The Great East Japan Earthquake. A story of a devastating natural disaster, a tale of human compassion*. Manila,

<http://www.wpro.who.int/publications/9789290615682/en/index.html>

Youssouf, H., Liousse, C., Roblou, L., Assamoi, E.M., Salonen, R.O., Maesano, C., Banerjee, S., and Annesi-Maesano, I. 2014. "Quantifying wildfires exposure for investigating health-related effects," *Atmospheric Environment* 97: 239-251.

Zinsstag, J., Schelling, E., Waltner-Toews, D., Whittaker, M. and Tanner, M. 2015. One Health: The theory and practice of integrated health approaches. Wallingford: CABI.

